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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small
and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk may be
attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange.
Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due
and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
midsized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be
more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market
in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any
loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors’) of Flying Financial Service
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”)
for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief: (i) the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive; (i) there are
no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or
this report misleading, and (iii) all opinions expressed in this report have been
arrived at after due and careful consideration and are founded on bases and
assumptions that are fair and reasonable.
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Executive Directors
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
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PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 1007, 10/F, West Wing
Tsim Sha Tsui Centre

66 Mody Road

Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon

Hong Kong
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PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
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Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681,

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

(effective on 1 March 2024)

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE
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Hong Kong
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MBRE

2023 2022 Changes
—E-=F —E-CfF 28
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT
OPERATING RESULTS REEE
Revenue Wz 87,307 76,671 13.9%
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to RRRIEEANEIEFE
owners of the Company w Al (E5i8) 16,926 2,605 550%
Basic earnings per share FREXREF RMB30.7 cents RMB7.52 cents 308%
AR%307% ARB7525
FINANCIAL POSITION B AR R
Total assets AEAE 102,367 55,705 83.8%
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBSEFEEER 16,561 4912 237.2%
Net assets BEEFHE 55,075 15,493 255.5%
Dividends RE
— Interim dividend paid (per share) — B ERE (FR) - -
— Proposed final dividend (per share) —BERERPRE (BR) - -
EHeBBREERERAT —ZT-=FFRK



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ETREHRES

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Flying Financial Service

Holdings Limited (“Flying Financial” or the Company”), | am pleased to present
the audited annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively

referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Despite the uncertain finance circumstance of the world, the prospects for our
group is remain clear. The management of the Group will formulate different
business strategies to utilise the Group's resources effectively to maintain
sustainable long-term growth and identify and explore other potential business
opportunities with a view to diversifying the Group's earnings base and
enhancing returns for the Shareholders. We have a great business and an
unwavering intent to take it into the next chapter of growth. We are grateful for
the steadfast support from our shareholders and our team as we help shape the
future to the benefit of all of our stakeholders.

Our Group is well positioned to navigate the many opportunities and
uncertainties that lie ahead. The financial services market’s transition demands
quick response and change, and we stand ready to face the challenging in 2024
and generate a wider profits to our group in the future.

APPRECIATION

I'would like to take this opportunity to extend my sincere gratitude to the
Shareholders, customers and business partners of the Group for their continuous
support and trust and thank my fellow Directors for their concerted effort and
insights throughout the past years. We treasure the efforts from the Group's
management team and the unwavering commitment of our staff. Please allow
me to express my sincere appreciation to our management team and staff for
their dedication and commitment.

LiuYi
Executive Director

28 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEWmED

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Reference is made to the announcements of the Company dated 21 and 22
December 2023 and 9 January 2024, in relation to the subscription of new shares
under general mandate. The Subscription Agreement have been fulfilled and
completion of the Subscription took place on 9 January 2024 in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the Subscription Agreement. 14,134,143
Subscription Shares, representing approximately 16.67% of the issued share
capital of the Company immediately after the completion of the Subscription,
have been issued to 4 Subscribers at the Subscription Price of HK$0.315 per
Subscription Share. The gross proceeds of the Subscription will be approximately
HK$4.45 million and the net proceeds (after deduction of other fees, costs,
charges and expenses of the Subscription) will be approximately HK$4.4 million.
The Company intends to be allocated to the developing the Group's new data
security related business.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 23 February
2024, to cater for the changing need of the market, the Company is in the
progress of planning and developing a new service platform and leverage the
expertise of the current financial technology service platform to capture new
market opportunities.

Reference is made to the announcement of the Company dated 15 March 2024,
follow by the announcement of the Company dated 23 February 2024 in relation
to business update on a voluntary basis. the Company is in the progress of
setting up subsidiaries in Hong Kong, Macau and Philippines for planning and
developing the new service platform in relation to financial technology and
travelling to capture new market opportunities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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BUSINESS REVIEW

As at 31 December 2023, the revenue of the Group, profit before income tax
expense and profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB87.3 million, RMB27 million and RMB16.9
million, respectively.

As at 31 December 2023, the cash and cash equivalents of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB16.6 million, which represented an increase of 237.2% as
compared to the previous year. The Group recorded a net assets of RMB55.1
million (2022: net assets of RMB15.5 million). The gearing ratio of the Group was
approximately 1.5%, representing year-on-year decrease of approximately 1.3
percentage point.

Financial Service Platform

The Company has commenced its operation of financial service platforms since
2015. The Group's financial service platforms initially offer professional financial
services in the real estate market. Through the continuous development of such
operation, the Group further launched its financial management service platform
in 2018 to provide banking and deposit management services. It had operated
in compliance with the requirements of the regulatory department at material
time. Besides, such platform has risk control module to prevent corporate
customers from duplicate borrowing and to identify fraud and tax payment
pattern and development data.

It had operated in compliance with the requirements of the regulatory
department at material time. Besides, such platform has risk control module to
prevent corporate customers from duplicate borrowing and to identify fraud
and tax payment pattern and development data.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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BUSINESS REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Financial Service Platform (Continued)

In view of the tightening regulatory environment in the PRC in 2019, the Group
has put great efforts in consolidating and expanding its internet financial
business segments and cooperated with internet small loan companies to
develop internet small loan business.

Such financial technology service platform has established comprehensive
business process and technology system covering customer acquisition, risk
identification, risk assessment, loan distribution channel, payment channel and
big data analysis through cooperating with Tencent Cloud and other licensed
institutions. Business needs of the Group's partners can be fulfilled through quick
access to the technologies.

Reference is made to the announcement dated 19 September 2023, the Group,
through its wholly-owned Hong Kong subsidiary, invests approximately HKD1.5
million to HKD2.0 million for the research and development in the new data
security related business. As stated in the Company’s annual report for the year
ended 31 December 2022, the Group actively seeks various business
opportunities from time to time, in order to expand and diversify the Group's
revenue sources. During the Group’s ordinary and usual course of business in
operating the financial service platform, various clients and counterparties have
been indicating to Group's management that data security has been an
increasingly critical topic in financial service industry and data security service
could be compliment/an ancillary service to the Group’s already operating
financial service platform which the Group find this comment not unreasonable.
Accordingly, the Directors are of the view that the expansion of the business
scope of the Group into data security related segment is in line with the Group’s
business development and expansion plan, which will bring better returns to the
Shareholders and the Directors consider the above products is also enhance and
assist the group original business in the future.

Cost Reduction and Internal Control

To cope with the industry downturn of its principal business, the Group further
reduced its costs and strengthened its internal control. During the year, through
optimising human resources and streamlining organizational structure of the
Group, the number of staff of the Group decreased from 28 to 22. The operation
efficiency and per capita efficiency were further enhanced. In addition, the
Group refined its business operation and improved its rules and regulations after
assessment and supervision of the internal control of various business segments.
Our internal control system was improved through supervising the
implementation of remedial measures for the loopholes found during our
inspection.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group recorded a turnover of
approximately RMB87.3 million, representing an increase of approximately 13.8%
from approximately RMB76.7 million in the previous year, mainly due to the
increase of platform service income during the year.

In terms of revenue breakdown, revenue from financial service platforms
amounted to approximately RMB83.4 million, representing an increase of
approximately 10.9%. Revenue from interest income and finance lease service
income for the year under review amounted to approximately RMB3.9 million,
representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 169.6%.

Finance Costs

In the year under review, interest expenses of the Group decreased by
approximately 33.3% to RMB48,000 from RMB72,000 in the previous year, which
mainly resulted from the decrease in bank borrowings and lease liabilities of the
Group during the year.

Other Income/(Expenses), Net

The Group's other income/(expenses), net mainly comprised fair value loss on
investment properties, recovery of impairment on loans and accounts
receivables previously recognised, gain on disposal of a property, plant and
equipment, and bank interest income.

In the year under review, the other income of the Group was approximately
RMBO0.26 million resulted from the bank interest (2022: other expenses of the
Group was approximately RMB4.6 million which was resulted from the loss on
disposal of subsidiary).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (CONTINUED)

Administrative and Employee Benefit Expenses

Administrative and employee benefit expenses of the Group mainly comprised
salaries and employee benefits, rental expenses, and marketing and advertising
fees. In the year under review, administrative and employee benefit expenses of
the Group was approximately RMB57.5 million, representing year-on-year
decrease of 4.3%.

Loss Allowance on Financial Assets

In the year under review, impairment loss on loans and accounts receivables and
other receivables aggregated approximately RMB3 million (2022: approximately
RMB2.4 million) due to the increase in credit risk of the existing customers.

Profit for the Year Attributable to the Owners of the
Company

In the year under review, profit attributable to the owners of the Company was
approximately RMB16.9 million (2022: profit approximately RMB2.6 million),
which was mainly due to the revenue increase from Financial Service Platform
Business.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had equity attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately RMB54.9 million (31 December 2022: approximately
RMB15.2 million).

As of 31 December 2023, the Group’s consolidated net assets was RMB55.1
million, representing an increase of approximately RMB39.6 million as compared
with that of RMB15.5 million as at 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company has 70,670,717 shares of HK$0.01 each in
issue. The value of share capital was approximately RMB611,000 as at 31
December 2023 (31 December 2022 (restated): approximately RMB286,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s bank balances and cash amounted to
approximately RMB16.6 million (2022: approximately RMB4.9 million), and the
Group's borrowings was approximately RMB1.5 million (2022: approximately
RMB1.5 million). The gearing ratio representing the total borrowings of the
Group divided by the total assets of the Group was approximately 1.5% (2022:
approximately 2.8%). As at 31 December 2023, 100% (2022: approximately 100%)
of the Group’s borrowings would be due within one year. As at 31 December
2023, 100% of the Group’s borrowings was denominated in HKD (2022: 100%
was denominated in HKD). As at 31 December 2023, 0% and 100% of the Group's
borrowings were carrying interests at fixed rate and interest free, respectively
(2022: approximately 0% and 100% of the Group's borrowings were carrying
interests at fixed rate and interest free, respectively).

There were no charges on group assets as at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The Directors considered that, in the foreseeable future, the Group will have
sufficient working capital to meet its financial obligations in full when they fall
due. In the year under review, the Group did not use any financial instruments
for hedging purposes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

THE SUBSCRIPTION NEW SHARES IN 2023

Reference are made to (i) the announcements of the Company dated 23 May
2022, 2 August 2022 and 7 June 2023 and the circular of the Company despatch
on 8 July 2022 (the “Circular”) in relation to, among others, the proposed Capital
Reorganisation, the Subscription and the Whitewash Waiver (collectively, the
“Reorganisation Publications”). Pursuant to the terms and conditions of the
Subscription Agreement, an aggregate of 36,042,067 New Shares, representing
(i) approximately 104% of the existing issued share capital adjusted for the effect
of the Capital Reorganisation; and (i) approximately 51% of the then enlarged
issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the allotment and issue of
the Subscription Shares and adjusted for the effect of the Capital Reorganisation,
were allotted and issued at the Subscription Price of HK$0.72 per Subscription
Share to the Subscriber or its nominee under the Specific Mandate. The gross
and net proceeds from the Subscription are approximately HK$25.95 million and
approximately HK$23.95 million, respectively, of which (i) as to approximately
HKS$10.00 million will be utilised for development and operation of the financial
service platform (as part of the fin-tech platform) and the provision of
consultation services of the Group; (i) as to approximately HK$5.00 million, will
be utilised for repayment of indebtedness of the Company; and (iii) as to
approximately HK$8.95 million, will be utilised for the Company’s general
working capital purposes, as disclosed in the Circular. The Board would like to
provide further information pursuant to Rule 18.32A and Rule 18.32(8) of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) in relation to the use of the 2023 Net
Proceeds as follows:
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWRED N (&)

THE SUBSCRIPTION NEW SHARES IN 2023

(CONTINUED)

i

Actual utilised

_i_:

—_———

B R G (&)

Unutilised

Expected

Planneduse ~ amountupto balanceasat  timeline for
of 2023 31 December 31December  unutilised 2023
Net Proceeds 2023 2023  Net Proceeds
HE-Z-=F R-BZZF
—BIZF +=A +ZA ABR-2==%
FERERA =+-A8 =+-B MBREREL
ZitElRE ERDALE FHAKE FHDARHER
% RMB million RMB million RMB million
%» AR¥KBET ARBEER AREKBER
(@pproximately)  (approximately)  (approximately)
(84) (847) (#47)
For general working capital: RfE-REEES:

Development and operation BERZEDH 418 10 () 5 Inthe mid of 2024
of the financial service platform RBTa ZEZER
Repayment of indebtedness BEER 209 5 (33) 17 Inthe mid of 2024

—Z-EH
General working capital —HEEEe 373 895 (345) 55 Inthe mid of 2024
i S
1000 2395 (11.79) 12.2
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWRED N (&)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND CORPORATE
RESPONSIBILITIES

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to maintaining the highest
environmental and social standards to ensure sustainable development of its
business. The Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations in
relation to its business including health and safety, workplace conditions,
employment and the environment. The Group understands a better future
depends on everyone’s participation and contribution. It has encouraged
employees, customers, suppliers and other stakeholders to participate in
environmental and social activities which benefit the community as a whole.

The Group maintains strong relationships with its employees, has enhanced
cooperation with its suppliers and has provided high quality products and
services to its customers so as to ensure sustainable development.

Please also refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report contained
in this annual report for further details of the Group's environmental
performance and relationship with its employees, suppliers and customers.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

Looking forward, we will further enrich our marketed portfolio, we facing
potential cooperation opportunities in other market, such as Hong Kong, Macau,
Philippines and other Eastern Asia Countries, we will wider our market and try
our best for planning and developing the new service platform in relation to
financial technology and travelling to capture new market in 2024 onwards.

The Group has been seeking suitable investment and business opportunities in
light of the market conditions to create value for its shareholders in a long term
and sustainable manner.

ER—RAMGEEIHNEE  AEEHNER
EE—'T%_%??ZI&?‘&EAT? AR E R A
SEER -AEECETHAREEXBARN
BEAGI SOER  BREERLZE - THERE
Rt MERRE - AKEROBEMBE AN
SER AR BER R KR - TRE SR R
CBPHERKEMRHES2ERE R
E@J CEBREBEEERE -

ma> ‘m]u

AEEBEREEFETRE MR HE
BzRANEE XREEPRHEEER MR
% AERABERRE -

BRAAKEZRARRRLHEERE - HER R
BEFZBGRZHE  F2HAAFHRIRE

@&E/D#&i °

ARRE

RERK  BAKE-—TEEERTHIHAS
TAEEMTENEEAIERE 1§IJ12D%I.§R§»

RPT - FEREMEMRTER - RPKFHEAD
5 HHEIRFAEEHeRBERKENE
HRBFE  BRREEEE T _NFEN
S8

AEE-BERETSIASREBEIRE ME
BHe UWRERAFELRRRAEEE-

ERSRBREERERIE —T-=FFRH



16

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWRED N (&)

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Transformation of the Financial Services Platform

The financial services platform of the Group has undergone strategic
transformation according to the requirements of relevant policies and withdrew
from the existing development businesses in an orderly and compliant manner.
The financial services platform of the Group has also proactively cooperated with
internet small loan platforms to develop internet small loan business as part of
the transformation, which might last for a relatively longer period of time and be
exposed to uncertainties such as loss of customers, increased costs and change
of policies. The Group shall oversee the transformation dynamically and make
timely adjustments during the process in order to ensure the success of such
transformation.

Risks related to Cyber Security

The Group handles significant amount of personal data and credit information of
its customers, which is susceptible to cyber threats. The Group's operations,
reputation and financial performance could be adversely impacted if the Group
suffers from cyber-attacks that disrupt its operations.

The Group makes extensive use of multiple channels to keep informed of
emerging cyber security threats to identify and implement measures intended
to mitigate the occurrence and/or consequences of such risks.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWRED N (&)

MAJOR INVESTMENTS

The Group, through the Disposal Group (as defined below), invested in property
development projects through investments in certain limited partnerships,
which engaged in business of property development in the PRC.

With reference to announcement of the Company dated 29 June 2022, the
completion of the VSD Transaction (as defined below) took place on 29 June
2022. Following the completion of the VSD Transaction (as defined below), the
Disposal Group (as defined below) ceased to be subsidiaries of the Company
and the Company ceased to have any interests in the Disposal Group. The
financial results, respective assets and liabilities of the Disposal Group would no
longer be consolidated into the Group's financial statements.

Accordingly, as at 31 December 2023, the fair values for the investments in
property development projects were Nil.

There was no specific plan for material investments or capital assets as at 31
December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWRED N (&)

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend to shareholders
of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2023.

LITIGATIONS, CLAIMS AND DISPUTES

With reference to announcement of the Company dated 29 June 2022, the
completion of the VSD Transaction (as defined below) took place on 29 June
2022. Following the completion of the VSD Transaction (as defined below), the
Disposal Group ceased to be subsidiaries of the Company and the Company
ceased to have any interests in the Disposal Group. The financial results of the
Disposal Group would no longer be consolidated into the Group's financial
statements.

As at the date of this report, no member of the Group was engaged in any
litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation, arbitration or
claim of material importance was known to the Directors to be pending or
threatened against any member of the Group.

THE GROUP’S RESPONSE TO THE BASIS OF
QUALIFIED OPINION

Comparative figures

The auditor's report on the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 (“2022 Financial Statements”) contained qualification on the
limitation of scope and qualification of the opening balance and corresponding
figures (the “Qualifications”). Details of which has been set out in the auditor’s
report for 2022 Financial Statements dated 14 April 2023.

Since this affect the determination of the results of operations, we were unable
to determine whether adjustments to the results of operations and opening
accumulated loss might be necessary for 2022 Financial Statements. Our audit
opinion on 2022 Financial Statements was modified accordingly. Our opinion on
the current period’s financial statement is also modified because of the possible
effect of this matter on the comparability of the current period figure and the
corresponding figures in the light that 2022 Financial Statements formed the
comparative figure in the current period’s financial statement.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

THE GROUP’S RESPONSE TO THE BASIS OF
QUALIFIED OPINION

Except for the audit modification on (1) the opening balances and comparative
figures to be stated in the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ending 31 December 2022, and (2) the comparative figures to be stated in
the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ending 31
December 2023, there would not be other audit modifications in respect of the
matters referred to above. In respect of the Group's consolidated financial
statement for the year ending 31 December 2022 and 2023, any audit
modifications should solely relate to the comparability of 2021 and 2022 figures.
Accordingly, the issues giving rise to the Qualification will not have any
continuing effect on the Group's consolidated financial statements for the year
ending 31 December 2024 and the subsequent years.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS AND EXPECTED SOURCES OF
FUNDING

There was no specific plan for material investments or capital assets as at 31
December 2023.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
For the contingent liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2022 and 2023,

please refer to the “LITIGATION, CLAIMS AND DISPUTES” section in Management
Discussion And Analysis.

CHARGES ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 December 2023, no Group's asset was pledged as security (2022: Nil).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant capital
commitment and capital expenditure (2022: Nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEENWRED N (&)

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation of HKS against RMB as its certain
bank balances are denominated in HKS which is not the functional currency of
the relevant group entities. The Group has not made other arrangement to
hedge against the exchange rate risk. However, the Directors and the
management will continue to monitor the foreign exchange exposure and will
consider utilising applicable derivatives to hedge out the exchange risk when
necessary.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts a conservative approach towards its treasury policies. The
Group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit
evaluation of the financial conditions of its customers. To manage liquidity risk,
the Directors closely monitor the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that the
liquidity structure of the Group's assets, liabilities and commitments can meet its
funding requirements.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 22 staff (2022: 28). Total staff
costs (including Directors’ emoluments) were approximately RMB5.2 million for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: RMB7.3 million). Remuneration is
determined with reference to market conditions and the performance,
qualifications and experience of individual employee. Year-end bonus based on
individual performance will be paid to employees as recognition of and reward
for their contributions. Other benefits include share option scheme, and
contributions to statutory mandatory provident fund schemes and social
insurance together with housing provident funds to its employees in Hong Kong
and the PRC respectively. The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed by the
remuneration committee of the Board, having regard to the relevant Director’s
experience, responsibility, workload and the time devoted to the Group, the
Group's operating results and comparable market statistics.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (“AGM")

Notice of the AGM of the Company will be published on the website of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) at www.hkex.com.hk
and the website of the Company at www.flyingfinancial.hk, as well as
despatched to the Shareholders of the Company in due course.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSAREERZBEFR

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ms. Liu Yi (213 Z 1), aged 40, was appointed as an executive Director with
effect from 23 May 2022. Prior to the Appointment, Ms. Liu served various micro-
credit and money lending companies in the People’s Republic of China (the
"PRC") and is well experienced in the money lending business sector. Ms. Liu
graduated from Huazhong University of Science and Technology (£ H #HE K
£ in June 2007 with a bachelor degree in financial management (81 75 & 1 &

ES b))

Ms. Liu did not hold any directorship in other listed public companies in Hong
Kong or overseas.

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. KAM Hou Yin, John (£ Z &% 4), aged 51, is a member of Standing
Committee of National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (FEIA RBUA &% 2 EZ 89) of Futian District, Shenzhen.
Mr. Kam holds the degree of Master of Business Administration from The
Tsinghua University in China and The University of Manchester in the United
Kingdom. He is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Kam has over 20 years' experience in corporate, personal and
interbank business. Mr. Kam was the Senior Partner of Shenzhen Zhujin Supply
Chain Management Co. Ltd. from November 2018 to December 2020. He was
appointed as an Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of Century Ginwa
Retail Holdings Limited from 2 May 2017 to October 2018 and was
Zone Manager — Corporate Banking Division and General Manager of Shenzhen
Branch of The Bank of East Asia (China), Limited from July 2012 to March 2017
and Zone Manager (Western China) — Corporate Banking Division and General
Manager of Xi'an Branch of The Bank of East Asia (China), Limited from November
2006 to June 2012. Mr. Kam was appointed as Co-Chief Executive Officer of DTXS
Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited from 12 March 2021 and he
was an executive director and chief executive officer of DTXS Silk Road
Investment Holdings Company Limited (Stock code: 620) during the period from
September 2021 to November 2022. Mr. Kam has been an independent non-
executive director of China Ocean Group Development Limited
(Stock code: 8047) since March 2020.

Mr. Kam was appointed as a chairman of the audit committee (“Audit
Committee”) and a member of each of the nomination committee (“Nomination
Committee”) and the remuneration committee (“Remuneration Committee”), on
23 February 2023.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EERCREEECBERE ()

DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

Independent non-executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. CHONG Kan Yu (3FE ¥ 2 T), age 59, been a general manager of Nam Yu
International Investment Company Limited (B2 HEIFR 1% & BFR A 7)) since
1989, a company principally engaged in business of cross-border logistic and sea
freight forwarding. Ms. Chong has been a director of Vigor Development (China)
Company Limited (REFLEERE (R B) B PR 2 7)) since 1992 and a director of
Bestowal Investment Holdings Limited (B2 % & % BB R /A 7)) since 2000.
Ms. Chong has over 20 years’ experience in trading, logistic and real estate and
property development. Ms. Chong holds various positions in different social and
commercial associations. She was the special committee member of Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference of Dongguang (Hong Kong and
Macau) (BR5e T (% R) Bl A RBUR R & %), the honorary chairman of the
Women's Federation of Guangdong Provincial Association for the Promotion of
Exchanges Across Taiwan Straits (EER A /FIRM FRX M iEiE 2B E) and
the vice-chairman of the Houjie branch of Dongguan Waishang Investment
Enterprise Association (REEINEI R EWHEEH D E) and the honorary
chairman of Overseas Friendship Association of Dongguan (BREET/E4MNEE R
@) Ms. Chong is currently a special representative of Shenzhen of All-China

s

Women's Federation Hong Kong Delegates (B[@ 1w B REED),
consultant of Friendship Association of Hong Kong Xiamen (& &/ 9t Fﬁ,m
&), and the vice-chairman of the Agriculture Committee of Guangdong

Provincial Association for the Promotion of Exchanges Across Taiwan Straits (&

REBEMERZRE EEREZES).

Ms. Chong was appointed as a chairlady of the Nomination Committee and a
member of each of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee on 23
February 2023.

Mr. LUO Sigang (B B/ %£ 4 ), aged 42
in Shenzhen Wantong Financing Guarantee Co,, Ltd* CRIII T & E 7 & E R
B BR A F]) since 2014 * a company principally engaged in financing and
secured loan business. Mr. Luo holds the degree of Computer Science and
Technology from the Beijing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics. Mr. Luo
has over 20 years' experience in financial services and professional legal
knowledge and has also participated in handling litigation and other legal
aspects of work. He was appointed as a manager of Shenzhen Real Estate
Financing Guarantee Co,, Ltd* (R A E) E gt & ER A BR A F)) during the
period from April 2011 to November 2014. He has also worked as the director of
the Yushan Judicial Office in Bazhong City, Sichuan Province from August 2001
to August 2003.

is currently working as a manager

Mr. Luo was appointed as a chairman of the remuneration committee
("Remuneration Committee”) and a member of each of the Audit Committee
and Nomination Committee on 8 June 2023.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

EE(#)

BYFHITES (&)

HEmZLT 95 BN/ \NWFRETER
BEREEERAR (FEREEEY R NG
EEREBEH AR BREE HZTH
—NWNZFREAERER(PE) BRAAE
Ey 3= gggii#&ﬁ%%&ﬁglﬁ@“
AEEH- ﬁi%&ﬁtﬂmiZ%ﬂ% 7% BA
&)%imf*)iﬁ’f%%?‘):%%%ﬁ Bzt T RtE
&ﬁ%ﬁ%’;\ﬂ*&xﬁﬂ“ﬁ%f’ﬁﬁ% = (BR)
ARBAHBEEHREEEE EREABRME
RuREeHaBerEegR REamhE
weE /iTﬁv\éTEaJ EREEMEINGEZ KR
HEg HutRataFEhRREES R
ﬂllﬂ%ir%ﬁﬁi‘% - BABEPBEESEERERSE
BEMEIRCESREEZERRIGR -

HZtTtWZZE-_=F-_A-+-HEZIT AR
HEEBETRNERLZESNFHEZESRA
I8 °

BEMLE 25 BT HFEXNEI®
%L@Eéﬁﬁé%ﬁﬁﬁ T(%I%fﬁ%mﬂéﬁ&ﬁ%‘
REFREBORR) BELE - BEERFFIR
MZEMARKRSEH BB P ERMEBM - B
EHAB0FERMELERNRELEZNE -
TRE 2N EMARTEAN T K
RIB-——FMNAZE_T—MF+— A HHEE
ZERFITIBEREERERAAMNKEE -
BHAR-_ZZT—F \AZ_ZTZT=F/\ARMN
NEBmELBAERDEMEEME -

BEEAMN T _=FRNANBEZERFMNZ
BEe((FHMEZEe ) TERERZBEGNIEA
ZEERAMWKE -



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEREREEECBERFE ()

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Leung Man Kit (2 XX £ 5 4 ), ('Mr. Leung’) aged 46 * was appointed as
a Company Secretary on 23 February 2023 * he is a Fellow Certified Public
Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants as well as
a Fellow Member of the Association of International Accountants, Fellow
Member of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong and also an Associate Member
of The Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors. He obtained a Master
Degree of Business Administration in Financial Management from The University
of Hull in the United Kingdom. Mr. Leung has many years of audit and tax
experience from various listed and private companies in Hong Kong and the
PRC.

Mr. Leung was appointed as an executive director on 1 February 2022 and

appointed as a Compliance Officer on 23 May 2022. He was resigned as an
executive director on 5 December 2022.

* For identification purposes only
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

A\I \\
TRERRE

The Board hereby presents this Corporate Governance Report in the Company’s
annual report for the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company acknowledges the important roles of its Board in providing
effective leadership and direction to the Group's business, and ensuring
transparency and accountability of the Company’s operations. The Board sets
appropriate policies and implements corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and growth of the Group’s business.

The Company has applied and complied with the principles and code provisions
as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) contained in
Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company will continue to review its corporate governance practices in
order to enhance its corporate governance standard, to comply with the
increasingly tightened regulatory requirements and to meet the rising
expectations of shareholders and investors.

CULTURES AND VALUES

A healthy corporate culture across the Group is integral to attain its vision and
strategy. It is the Board's role to foster a corporate culture with the following core
principles and to ensure that the Company’s vision, values and business
strategies are aligned to it.

1. Integrity and code of conduct

The Group strives to maintain high standards of business ethics and
corporate governance across all our activities and operations. The
Directors, management and staff are all required to act lawfully, ethically
and responsibly, and the required standards and norms are explicitly set
out in the training materials for all new staff and embedded in various
policies such as the Group’s employee handbook (including therein the
Group’s code of conduct), the anti-corruption policy and the
whistleblowing policy of the Group. Trainings are conducted from time to
time to reinforce the required standards in respect of ethics and integrity.
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CULTURES AND VALUES (CONTINUED)

2.

Commitment

The Group believes that the culture of commitment to workforce
development, workplace safety and health, diversity, and sustainability is
one where people have a feeling of commitment and emotional
engagement with the Group's mission. This sets the tone for a strong,
productive workforce that attracts, develops, and retains the best talent
and produces the highest quality work. Moreover, the Company's strategy
in the business development and management are to achieve long-term,
steady and sustainable growth, while having due considerations from
environment, social and governance aspects.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE REQUIRED STANDARD OF
DEALINGS IN SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS OF LISTED ISSUERS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities transactions

by Directors on terms no less exacting than the required standard of dealings set
out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made specific enquires,
all the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by Directors adopted by the Company throughout the year under review.

A.

A.1

THE BOARD

Board of Directors

The Company is governed by the Board which has the responsibility for
leadership and control of the Company. The Directors are collectively
responsible for promoting the success of the Group by directing and
supervising the Group's affairs. The Board set strategies and directions for
the Group's activities with a view to developing its business and
enhancing shareholder value.
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ANNUAL REPORT 2023

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Board composition
The Board currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Liu Yi

Mr. Zhang Gongjun
(resigned on 8 June 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John
Ms. Chong Kan Yu
Mr. Luo Sigang
(appointed on 8 June 2023)
Mr. Hsu Tawei
(resigned on 8 June 2023)

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set
out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report. The composition of the Board is well
balanced. Each of the Directors has relevant expertise and extensive
corporate and strategic planning experiences that can contribute to the
business of the Group.

The Board is collectively responsible for the oversight of the management
of the business affairs of the Group with the objective of enhancing
shareholders value.

For Board composition, please refer to the section “DIRECTORS” in the
“Directors’ Report” of this annual report.

The Board currently consists of four members, including one Executive
Director and three Independent Non-executive Directors. The Board
currently has two female Directors which achieved the gender diversity in
Board level. At least one of our Independent Non-executive Directors has
the professional and accounting qualifications as required by the Listing
Rules.
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A.2

A3

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Board composition (Continued)
Throughout the year 2023, the Company has complied with rules 5.05(1)
and (2), and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has received an annual confirmation of independence in
writing from each of the INEDs pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules and considers them to be independent.

There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material relationship) between members of the Board. Biographies of
Directors are set out in “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” of this annual report.

The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of, and promoting
the success of the Company. This is achieved by setting up corporate and
strategic objectives and policies, and the monitoring and evaluations of
operating activities and financial performance of the Company.

All the Directors carry out their duties in good faith and in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, taking decisions objectively and
acting in the interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times.

There is no relationship, including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relation(s) among members of the Board and between
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Formal service agreements and letters of appointment have been entered
into with the executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors respectively setting out the key terms and conditions of their
respective appointments.

A.

A.2

A3
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THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Responsibilities and delegation of functions

The Company has formalised and adopted written terms on the division
of functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to the
management of the Group. The Board reserves for its decision on all major
matters of the Company, including the approval and monitoring of all
policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and risk
management systems, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well
as the advice and services of the company secretary (the "Company
Secretary”) and senior management of the Company, with a view to
ensuring compliance with the Board procedures and all applicable laws
and regulations. Any Director may request independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company'’s expense, upon
reasonable request being made to the Board. The day-to-day
management, administration and operations of the Company are
delegated to the executive Directors and senior management of the
Company. The Board has delegated a schedule of responsibilities to these
officers for the implementation of the Board decisions. The Board
periodically reviews the delegated functions and work tasks. Prior to
entering into any significant transactions, the aforesaid officers have to
obtain the Board's approval.

No corporate governance committee has been established by the
Company and the Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties, which included:

—

) to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate
governance of the Group;

(2)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(3)  to review and monitor the Group's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(4)  to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and employees;
and

(5)  toreview the Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in the corporate governance report of the Company.
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A.5

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Appointment, re-election and removal of directors

Ms. Liu Yi, being executive Directors, has renewed or entered his/her
service contract with the Company on 23 May 2022, for a term of three
years. The aforementioned service contracts with the Company for the
executive Directors shall be terminated by not less than three months’
notice in writing served by either party.

Each Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John, Ms. Chong Kan Yu and Mr. Luo Sigang being
the independent non-executive Directors, has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of two years commencing 23
February 2023 and 8 June 2023, respectively. The aforementioned
appointment letters with the Company for each of the independent non-
executive Directors shall be automatically renewed and extended for
successive term of one year and may be terminated either after the initial
term by either party by giving at least three months’ notice in writing or
be terminated after one year of the initial term.

The Directors are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the
Company's articles of association. According to the Company'’s articles of
association, one-third of the Directors are required to retire from office at
each annual general meeting, provided that each Director shall be subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. The Directors to
retire every year shall be those who have been longest in office since their
last re-election or appointment.
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A. THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

A.6 Board meeting, general meeting and procedures
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board convened a total of
13 board meetings, one extraordinary general meeting and one annual
general meeting was held. The following is the Directors’ attendance
record of meetings held by the Board and general meeting:

A. EE8 (#)

A6 EEEEZ RRASRERF
HE_Z-_=F+_A=+—HIFE"
EEgHARBREFEESH  —ARR
BRRER—ABRERBRFREG - AT ARE
FHEEFSRTHEZLIRIRGNHE
& 4o 8% -

Number of

Number of Number of attendance/
attendance/ attendance/ number of
number of number of extraordinary
board annual general general
meetings meeting meeting

HERE HERE BRR HEREBRER

ESEeg28E BFEAEHE HBHIKAEHE

Ms. Liu Yi BIRut
Ms. Chong Kan Yu HEmZ T
Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John SEELAE
Mr. Luo Sigang ?’é%ﬂ]?ﬁi
(appointed on 8 June 2023) (RZZE==%F
NANBEZET)
Mr. Zhang Gongjun @ﬁ’&fﬁz?ﬁi
(resigned on 8 June 2023) (RZZE=—=F
7N H J\H %1:{%)
Mr. Hsu Tawei ?—?7(1?7"51{
(resigned on 8 June 2023) (RZZE==%F
7N H J\H %1:{%)

Board members were provided with complete, adequate and timely
information to allow them to fulfill their duties properly.

Schedules for annual Board meetings and draft agenda of each Board
meeting are sent to all Directors in advance. Notice of at least 14 days is
given for a regular Board meeting. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. Board papers together
with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are dispatched to
all Directors at least three days before each regular Board meeting to
ensure that the Directors have sufficient time to review the related
documents and be adequately prepared for the meeting.
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A.6

A.7

A.8

THE BOARD (CONTINUED)

Board meeting, general meeting and procedures
(Continued)

The Company Secretary is responsible to keep minutes of all Board and
committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally circulated to all Directors
for comments within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final
versions are open to Directors for inspection. The Company's articles of
association contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain from voting
and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have a
material interest.

Continuous professional development

Pursuant to Code Provision A.6.5 of the Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. For the year ended 31 December 2023,
each of the Directors (namely, Ms. Liu Yi, Mr. Kam Hou Yin. John,
Ms. Chong Kan Yu and Mr. Luo Sigang) has been given relevant guideline
materials to ensure that they are apprised of the latest changes in the
commercial, legal and regulatory requirements in relation to the
Company'’s businesses, and to refresh their knowledge and skills on the
roles, functions and duties of a listed company director.

New Directors, on appointment, will be given an induction package
containing all key legal and GEM Listing Rules’ requirements as well as
guidelines on the responsibilities and obligations to be observed by a
director. The package will also include the latest published financial
reports of the Company and the documentation for the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Board.

The Company also continuously updates Directors on the latest
developments regarding listing rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices. Circulars or guidance notes are also
issued to Directors where appropriate to ensure their awareness of best
corporate governance practices.

Corporate governance functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
and has reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and compliance with the Code, reviewed and monitored the
continuous professional development of the Directors and reviewed and
monitored the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements during the year as well as the disclosures in
this report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely, the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) with written terms of reference, which are
available for viewing on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange, to assist them in the efficient implementation of their functions.
Specific responsibilities have been delegated to the above committees.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established by the Board on 20 December 2011
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of
the GEM Listing Rules and the Code. The terms of reference were last
updated on 1 January 2019 and maintained on both the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are mainly to (i) review the financial statements and reports
and consider any significant or unusual items raised by the Company's
staff responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or external auditors before submission to the Board; (ii)
review the relationship with the external auditors by reference to the work
performed by the auditors, their fees and terms of engagement, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, reappointment and
removal of external auditors; and (iii) review the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Company'’s financial reporting system, internal control
system and risk management system and associated procedures.
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B.1

BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Audit Committee (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee has three members
comprising, Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John, Ms. Chong Kan Yu and Mr. Luo Sigang,
all of whom are independent non-executive Directors. During the year
ended 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee had reviewed the annual
results and report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022,
the interim results and report of the Company for the six months ended
30 June 2023 and first and third quarterly results and reports of the
Company for the periods ended 31 March 2023 and 30 September 2023
respectively. Subsequent to 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
report, all members of the Audit Committee attended a meeting to review
the Group's internal control, risk management and the Structured
Agreements (as set out in the section headed “Report of the Directors” of
this annual report) for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group's
final results and the annual results announcement for the year ended 31
December 2023 and this annual report had been reviewed by the Audit
Committee before submission to the Board for approval. Members of the
Audit Committee were of the opinion that the preparation of such results
complied with the applicable accounting standards, the GEM Listing Rules
and that adequate disclosure have been made.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 5 meetings of the Audit

B.1

EEEETHEES (B)

EREET (&)
R-ZE-_=F+-F=+—H8 EXRZE
eHBEEZAKE B R4 HiE
WMzt REBRLE  BEYARBET IR
TEE-Hr-—=E-—=#+=-HA=+—H
IFFE BRZEERNARFEEZ
T+ A=+ BUHEENEEES
RRE ARABE_ZS_=F,A=+
BIEAREAFREEERFE  ARAR
ANREE T -_—F=-A=+—HE_
T FNAAZTHIEHMANE—FEE
FoEEXERRE - BENRZE_=F
+-A=+—BEAHREEHIL  BERE
BgrBEREYHESRERNASEHE
T ZF+ A+ RAIEFENRI
B BEREEMERRE (EHREAFER
[BEEgRE]—F) - AEBBE=-Z
T+ A=+ BUHFEERKRIPES
MEFEENEARFTREEZLZESH
%k ARREEEEEN - EREZEY
KERABREZSEXEFTAERAIFE
Bl GEM EMRBIBAEEN T DI -

| | N

m

BE-_E-_=F+-A=+—HIt&E"

Committee were held and the attendance of each member of the Audit ENEZESARARER  SEZEZES
Committee is contained in the following table: REREHBERSEN T :
Number of attendance/
number of meetings
HERE EEEE
Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John (Chairman) SEBRAE(EE) 5/5
Ms. Chong Kan Yu HEmZLT 5/5
Mr. Luo Sigang ZEBMEE
(appointed on 8 June 2023) (RZZEZ=FAN\BEZMT) 3/5
Mr. Hsu Tawei BREXAE
(resigned on 8 June 2023) (R—ZZE-=FANBEDT) 2/5
EHRSRREIZERERAR —EC=FFH
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee on 20
December 2011 with written terms of reference in compliance with the
Code. The terms of reference were last updated on 1 January 2019 and
maintained on both the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are mainly to
(i) review the Board composition; (ii) develop and formulate relevant
procedures for the nomination and appointment of directors; (iii) identify
qualified individuals to become members of the Board; (iv) monitor the
appointment and succession planning of directors; and (v) assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors.

The nomination policy aims to set out the relevant selection criteria and
nomination procedures.

In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate, the following factors
would be used as reference by the Nomination Committee, including but
not limited to:

(@)  ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the
Company;

reputation for integrity and accomplishment and experience in the
relevant industry(ies);

() commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;
diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,

cultural and educational background and ethnicity; and

(e) effectiveness in carrying out the responsibilities of the Board, such
as participating in Board meetings to bring an independent
judgement, scrutinising the Company’s performance and
monitoring the reporting of performance, etc..

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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B.2

BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board'’s consideration and approval. For
proposing candidates to stand for election at a general meeting, the
Nomination Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its
consideration and recommendation. A circular setting out information as
required pursuant to the applicable laws, rules and regulations of the
proposed candidates will be sent to the shareholders. The Board shall
have the final decision on all matters relating to its recommendation of
candidates to stand for election at any general meeting.

As at 31 December 2023, the Nomination Committee has 3 members
comprising of one executive Director, Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John,
Ms. Chong Kan Yu and Mr. Luo Sigang, all of whom are independent
non-executive Directors. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
3 meetings of the Nomination Committee was held to review the
structure and composition of the Board and assess the independence of
the independent non-executive Directors. The attendance of each
member of the Nomination Committee is contained in the following
table:

B.2

EEEETHEES (B)

REEZEEE (A)
RAZBESANEAABRRERAEESR
hizs HEFEZERIE - BRERR
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ExeRt HEFSEREREE AR
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ZEEREMEREBAENTE

Number of attendance/

number of meeting

HERE EFHE

Ms. Chong Kan Yu (Chairlady) HeEmZt (EE) 2/3

Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John SEBEXAE 2/3
Mr. Luo Sigang ZEBMEE

(appointed on 8 June 2023) (RZZEZ=FAN\BEZMT) 0/3

Mr. Zhang Gongjun SRR LA 1/3
Mr. Hsu Tawei RREEE

(resigned on 8 June 2023) (RZZ==F"ANBET) 2/3

EMSBBKERERAT —B-=5FH
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

The Board adopted on 29 August 2013 a board diversity policy (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) and the Nomination Committee had made
recommendations to the Board on the measurable objectives for
implementing the Board Diversity Policy. The Board recognises that
increasing diversity at the Board level will support the attainment of the
Company's strategic objectives and sustainable development. The
Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a
number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The measurable objectives
recommended by the Nomination Committee and adopted by the Board
include the following:

(i) At least 33% of the members of the Board shall be non-executive
Directors or independent non-executive Directors;

(i) At least 80% of the members of the Board shall have attained
bachelor's degree or above;

At least 33% of the members of the Board shall have obtained
accounting or other professional qualifications;

(iif)

At least 33% of the members of the Board shall have more than
seven years of experience in the industry he/she is specialised in;
and

(iv)

(v) At least 33% of the members of the Board shall have China-related
work experience.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee on 20 December
2011 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Code. The
terms of reference were last updated on 12 December 2023 and maintain
on both of the website of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The
Remuneration Committee adopted the approach under code provision
B.1.2(c)(ii) of the Code and the primary duties of the Remuneration
Committee are mainly to (i) make recommendations to the Board on the
Company'’s policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and the establishment of a formal and transparent
procedure for developing policy on such remuneration; (ii) make
recommendations on the remuneration packages of executive Directors
and senior management; and (iii) review and approve performance-based
remuneration by reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by
the Board from time to time.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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BOARD COMMITTEES (CONTINUED)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee has three
members comprising three independent non-executive Directors,
Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John, Ms. Chong Kan Yu and Mr. Luo Sigang. The
remuneration of the Directors was determined with reference to their
respective experience, responsibilities with the Group and general market
conditions. During the year ended 31 December 2023, 5 meetings of the
Remuneration Committee were held to review the remuneration package
of the Directors and senior management of the Company, and the
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attendance of each member of the Remuneration Committee is contained BEMEEBREHNTE
in the following table:
Number of attendance/
number of meetings
HERE EFHE
Mr. Luo Sigang (Chairman) BIBMEAE (FRE)

(appointed on 8 June 2023) (RZE_=ZFANBEZMT) 2/5
Ms. Chong Kan Yu HEmZ T 4/5
Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John SEELE 4/5
Mr. Hsu Tawei RAREEE

(resigned on 8 June 2023) (R=_E=—=FXANBET) 2/5
Mr. Zhang Gongjun BN

(resigned on 8 June 2023) (RZZEZ=FAN\B&T) 1/5

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the senior management are set out in the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”
of this annual report.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the number of senior
management other than the Directors who received/was entitled to
receive remuneration falling within the following band is set out as
follows:

C.

SREEENMS

BREEENEEFBINAFRIES
EEREBBZBEFIE—-

BE_ZT-_=F+-A=1+—HILFE -
BREE S LASMNICER, 75 U BR A T #6165 Y B
THERERBASNT

Number of individual

A

Nil to HK$1,000,000 = % 1,000,000 75 7T

1
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37



38

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

L EEBIRLE (4

II‘E )

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Company’s
consolidated financial statements for each financial year and to ensure
that the consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance
with the statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The
statement by the auditors of the Company about their responsibilities for
the consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent
Auditor's Report on pages 62 to 69 of this annual report. The Board also
ensures the timely publication of the financial statements. The Directors,
having made appropriate enquiries, confirm that they are not aware of
any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has an overall responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group. The Board has developed its
systems of internal control and risk management and is also responsible
for reviewing the systems on an annual basis and maintaining adequate
internal control and risk management systems to safeguard the interests
of the shareholders and the assets of the Company.

The internal audit department has performed annual review on the
Group’s internal control and risk management systems, policy and
procedures for the year ended 31 December 2023 and reported to the
Audit Committee its findings and recommendations.

The Board, having taken into account the recommendations of the
internal audit department and the Audit Committee, has conducted a
review of the effectiveness of the internal control and risk management
systems of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023, and
considered the risk management and internal control systems effective
and adequate. The systems of risk management and internal control are
designed to manage rather than to eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(CONTINUED)

Procedures for handling and dissemination of inside
information

The Board has approved and adopted an Inside Information Disclosure
Policy (the "Policy”) for the Company since 2013 for monitoring and
disclosing inside information to ensure compliance with the GEM Listing
Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance. The procedures for
handling and dissemination of inside information as set out in the Policy
are summarised below:

(i) Handling of Inside Information

(@  Inside information shall be announced as soon as reasonably
practicable after it becomes known to the Board and/or is the
subject of a decision by the Board. In cases where a decision
by the Board is pending or in cases of incomplete
negotiations, the Group shall implement the procedures set
out in the Policy to maintain the confidentiality of
information. Until an announcement is made, the Directors
and the management should ensure that such information is
kept strictly confidential, and only the key personnel are
informed. If the confidentiality cannot be maintained, an
announcement shall be made as soon as practicable.

(b)  Business units shall keep inside information on transactions
confidential. If there is a leakage of inside information, they
shall inform the Directors immediately so that remedial
actions, including making an inside information
announcement, can be taken at the earliest opportunity.

(©)  The Group's Finance Department shall keep track of the
Group's threshold levels for disclosure pursuant to the size
tests under the GEM Listing Rules, so that an announcement
can be made as soon as practicable should a notifiable
transaction arise.

(ii) Dissemination of Inside Information
(@  Inside information is announced promptly through the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

(b)  Interviews and Briefing sessions can be organised for the
analysts and the media after the designated officers having
the approval from the Chairman of the Company.
Presentation materials shall be reviewed in advance before
they are released at the briefing sessions.
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F. INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid/payable to the auditors of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 is set out as follows:

B B B &

BE_Z_=—F+_A=+—HILFE"
EfN/ENAERZEMOMmT

Paid/payable

Services rendered RER RS B S
RMB'000

ARBEF T

Statutory audit services AT ERT IR 580
Non-audit services EEE R -
Total A&t 580

G. COMPANY SECRETARY

According to the requirements of Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules,
Mr. Leung Man Kit has undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training to update his skills and knowledge during the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company has established various channels of communication with its
shareholders and the public to ensure that they are kept abreast of the
Company'’s latest news and development. Information relating to the
Company’s financial details, property projects and major events are
available through publication of annual and interim reports,
announcements, circulars, press releases and on the Company’s website.

The Board believes that effective investor relations can help lower
financing cost, improve market liquidity of the Company’s shares, and
build a more stable shareholder base. Therefore, the Company is
committed to maintaining a high level of corporate transparency and
follow a policy of disclosing relevant information to shareholders,
investors, analysts and bankers in a timely manner.

Shareholders and investors may also write directly to the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong at Room 1007, 10/F, West Wing,
Tsim Sha Tsui Centre, 66 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong
or via email to “info@flyingfinancial.hk” for any inquiries. Inquiries are dealt
with in an informative and timely manner.

The Board considers that general meetings of the Company provide an
important channel for shareholders to exchange views with the Board.
The Chairman of the Board as well as the chairmen and/or other members
of the Board committees will endeavor to be available at the meetings to
answer any questions raised by shareholders.

The Company continues to enhance communication and relationship
with its investors. A designated senior management and investor relations
team maintains regular dialogue with institutional investors and analysts
to keep them informed of the Group's developments.
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I. SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS . BRERER
Procedures for convening extraordinary meeting on ERBHRRBHIAGZER
requisition
Shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) shall follow the BRERAARERMBAEAKIHE A2
following procedures as prescribed in Article 64 of the articles of AR ([HRER ) Bk BRARA B R
association of the Company to convene an extraordinary general meeting Ae((RRFIARE]) BETUTRER

of the Company (the "EGM"):

(1) One or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the (1
requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company having the right of voting at general meetings (the
“Requisitionist(s)") shall have the right, by written requisition (the
"Requisition”), to require an EGM to be called by the Directors for
the transaction of any business specified therein.

(2)  The Requisition shall be made in writing to the Directors or the (2)
Company Secretary of the Company at both of the following
addresses:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
Address: Room 1007, 10/F West Wing

Tsim Sha Tsui Centre

66 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui

Kowloon, Hong Kong

Attention: Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Registered office of the Company

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

Attention: Board of Directors/Company Secretary

(3)  The EGM shall be held within two months after the deposit of the 3)
Requisition.
(4)  If the Directors fail to proceed to convene the EGM within twenty- @)

one (21) days of deposit of the Requisition, the Requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all
reasonable expenses incurred by the Requisitionist(s) as a result of
the failure of the Directors shall be reimbursed to the
Requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (CONTINUED) l.

Procedures for raising enquiries

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings,
share transfer, registration and payment of dividend to the Company's
branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong (the “Branch Share
Registrar”), Tricor Investor Services Limited, details of which are as follows:

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address: 17/F., Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong
Email: is-enquiries@hk tricorglobal.com
Tel: (852) 2980 1333
Fax: (852) 28108185

Shareholders may at any time raise any enquiry in respect of the Company
at the following designated contacts, correspondence address, email
address and enquiry hotlines of the Company:

Attention: Board of Directors/Company Secretary
Address: Room 1007, 10/F West Wing
Tsim Sha Tsui Centre
66 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui
Kowloon, Hong Kong
Email: info@flyingfinancial.nk
Tel: (852) 2237 7288
Fax: (852) 2237 7227

Shareholders are reminded to lodge their questions together with their
detailed contact information for the prompt response from the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (CONTINUED)

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals
at general meeting

To put forward proposals at a general meeting of the Company,
Shareholder(s) should lodge a written notice of his/her proposal (the
"Proposal”) with his/her detailed contact information at the Company's
principal place of business in Hong Kong as specified above.

The Proposal will be verified by the Branch Share Registrar in Hong Kong
and upon their confirmation that the Proposal is proper and in order, the
Board will be asked to include the Proposal in the agenda for the general
meeting. Whether a proposal will be put to a general meeting will be
decided by the Board in its discretion, unless the proposal put forward by
a Shareholder is (i) pursuant to a requisition by a Shareholder to convene
an EGM or (i) as special business to be considered at an annual general
meeting as described in Article 67(A) of the article of association of the
Company.

The notice period to be given to all the Shareholders for consideration of
the proposal raised by the Shareholder(s) concerned at the general
meeting varies according to the nature of the Proposal as follows:

(@) not less than twenty-one (21) days’ notice and not less than twenty
(20) clear business days' notice in writing if the Proposal requires
approval by way of any resolution of the Company in its annual
general meeting;

(b)  not less than twenty-one (21) days’ notice and not less than ten (10)
clear business days' notice in writing if the Proposal requires
approval by way of a special resolution of the Company in the EGM,;
or

(0 not less than fourteen (14) days’ notice and not less than ten (10)
clear business days' notice in writing if the Proposal requires
approval by way of any resolution of the Company other than those
specified in paragraphs (a) and (b) above.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Memorandum and articles of association

Pursuant to the Consultation Conclusions on Listing Regime for Overseas
Issuers published by the Stock Exchange in November 2021, the GEM
Listing Rules have been amended with effect from 1 January 2022 which
requires, among others, listed issuers to adopt a uniform set of 14 “Core
Standards” for shareholder protections for issuers.

As such, on 10 August 2023, the Board proposes to amend the
Memorandum and Articles of Association for the purposes of, among
others, (i) bringing the Memorandum and Articles of Association in line
with amendments made to the GEM Listing Rules and applicable laws of
the Cayman Islands; and (ii) making certain other housekeeping
amendments to the Memorandum and Articles of Association.

The proposed amendments and the proposed adoption of the second
amended and restated memorandum and articles of association was
approved by way of special resolution at the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company held on 5 September 2023. For details, please
refer to the Company’s announcements dated 10 August 2023 and 5
September 2023 and Company’s circular dated 10 August 2023.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHRE

The Board of Directors of the Company is pleased to present the annual report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activities of the Group are investment in property development
projects, operation of a financial services platform, provision of entrusted loan
and other loan services, financial consultation services, and finance lease services
in the PRC.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities, including a discussion of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, an indication of the likely
future developments in the Group's business and the Company’s environmental,
social and corporate responsibility, can be found in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report. These discussions
form part of this report of the Directors.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

According to our business nature and pursuant to the laws of Hong Kong, there
are no specific environmental standards and/or requirements for conducting the
Group's business in Hong Kong. The Group is aware of environmental protection
and social responsibility as an enterprise citizen and promotes healthy work
place. The Group’s Environmental, Social and Governance Report for the year
ended 31 December 2023 will be published on the respective websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company on or before 30 April 2024.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group's operations are mainly carried out in Hong Kong and the PRC while
the Company itself is listed on the Stock Exchange. The Group's establishment
and operations accordingly shall comply with all PRC laws and applicable laws in
the jurisdictions where it has operations. During the year ended 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this annual report, the Group has complied with all
the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Directors are not aware of any laws and regulations which are industry
specific, and have material implication or impact on the business and operation
of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
EEERE (&)

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES, CUSTOMERS
AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises that employees are valuable assets and regards the
personal development of its employees as highly important. The Group wants to
continue to be an attractive employer for committed employees. During the
year under review, there was no dispute on salary payments and all accrued
remunerations, in all kinds, were settled on or before their respective due dates,
as stipulated under individual employee’s employment contract. The Group also
ensures that all the employees are reasonably remunerated by regular review
and the policies on salary increment, promotion, bonus, allowances and all other
related benefits are updated from time to time. Being people-oriented, the
Group is committed to providing a safe and healthy workplace for its employees
and encourages them to have a work-life balance.

The Group appreciates the importance of maintaining good relationships with
its customers and suppliers to meet its immediate and long-term business goals.
The Group values the feedback from its customers through communication to
address their concerns in a timely manner. For suppliers, the Group assures the
quality of their delivered services and products.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2023, there is no circumstance of
any event between the Group and its employees, customers and suppliers
which will have a significant impact on the Group's business and on which the
Group's success depends.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's results for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the state of affairs
of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the consolidated
financial statements on pages 70 to 158.

The Board did not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the
financial year ended 31 December 2023.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy aims to set out the approach to target dividend payout ratio
of the Company.

The Company targets to distribute to its shareholders a dividend amount as
determined by the Board at its sole and absolute discretion, but subject to:

a. the requirements of the Company’s constitutional documents;
b.  the solvency requirements of the laws of the Cayman Islands;

C. there being sufficient amount of retained profits and share premium of
the Company for the dividend payment;

d.  any financial covenants and other restrictions that exist with respect to
certain of the Company’s financing arrangements and other agreements
by which the Company is bound from time to time;

e. the earnings, financial position, results of operation, expansion plans,
working capital requirements, and anticipated cash needs of the Company
and its subsidiaries;

f. the payment by subsidiaries of cash dividends to the Company; and

g. other factors which the Board may deem appropriate.

With respect to restriction (e) above, if any of the subsidiaries incurs debt on its
own behalf in the future, the instruments governing the debt, such as the
indenture governing any notes/bonds, may restrict its ability to pay dividends or
make other payments to the Company, and the corporate laws applicable to the
subsidiaries also impose requirements that these subsidiaries must meet before
they may pay dividends to the Company.

The form and frequency of dividend declaration and payment shall be at the
sole and absolute discretion of the Board and the dividend policy does not
constitute a legally binding commitment in respect of the future dividends.

The Board will monitor the implementation of the dividend policy and will
review the dividend policy, as appropriate, to ensure the compliance of the
dividend policy and discuss and approve any revision as and when require.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the
past five financial years is set out in the financial summary on pages 159 and 160
of this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company's share capital and share options during
the year are set out in notes 23 and 24 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHT

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and investment
properties of the Group during the year are set out in notes 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the
year are set out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, there is no reserves available for distributions to equity
holders of the Company comprising share premium account less accumulated
losses. (2022: nil).
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year were:

Executive Directors
Ms. Liu Yi
Mr. Zhang Gongjun (resigned on 8 June 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John

Ms. Chong Kan Yu

Mr. Luo Sigang (appointed on 8 June 2023)

Mr. Hsu Tawei (resigned on 8 June 2023)

Pursuant to Article 105(A) of the Company’s articles of association (the “Articles
of Association”), at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for
the time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation
and shall be eligible for re-election. Every Director, including those appointed for
a specific term, shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

By virtue of Article 109 of the Articles of Association, any person appointed by
the Directors to fill a casual vacancy or as additional Director shall hold office
until the next following general meeting of the Company and shall then be
eligible for re-election at the meeting. Mr. Luo Sigang, who was appointed by
the board of Directors of the Company as Directors pursuant to board resolution
with effect from 8 June 2023, will retire at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company, Mr. Luo Sigang and Ms. Liu Yi, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out in
the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management”
of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years unless and until (i) terminated by either party
thereto giving not less than three months’ prior written notice; or (ii) the
executive Director not being re-elected as a Director or being removed by
Shareholders at general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles
of Association.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was appointed for an initial
term of two years (as set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report) and shall be subject to retirement, re-election and
removal in accordance with the Articles of Association.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Director being proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION

(1) Mr. Zhang Gongjun was resigned as an executive director, the Chairman
of the Board, the Chief Executive Officer, the authorized representative
and as a member of each of the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee on 8 June 2023.

(2)  Mr. Hsu Tawei was resigned as an independent non-executive Director
and as the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of each
of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee on 8 June
2023.
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CHANGES IN DIRECTORS’ INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(3)  Mr. Luo Sigang was appointed as an independent non-executive Director,
a chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee on 8 June 2023.

(4)  Ms.Liu Yiwas appointed as the Authorised Representatives in replacement
of Mr. Zhang Gongjun on 8 June 2023.

Save as disclosed above, there were no changes to the Directors’ information
since the date of the 2023 annual report of the Company required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence from all three
independent non-executive Directors pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules and the Company considers the independent non-executive Directors to
be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No Directors or controlling shareholders (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules) of
the Company had material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any contract of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries was a party during the year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

A remuneration committee is set up for reviewing the Group's emolument
policy and structure of all remuneration of the Directors and senior management
of the Group, having regard to the Group's operating results, individual
performance and comparable market practices.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five individuals with the
highest emoluments are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial
statements.

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The PRC subsidiaries of the Group participate in defined contribution retirement
benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) organised by the PRC municipal and provincial
government authorities whereby the PRC subsidiaries are required to make
contributions at the rate of Nil (2022: Nil) of the eligible employees’ salaries to
the Schemes. The Group has accrued for the required contributions which are
remitted to the respective local government authorities when the contributions
become due. The local government authorities are responsible for the pension
obligations payable to the retired employees covered under the Schemes. No
forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in future
years.
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EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT SCHEMES (CONTINUED)

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the "MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
(Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for employees employed in Hong Kong.
The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered by
independent trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the Group and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of the employees’
relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000.
Contributions to the MPF Scheme vest immediately.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors, substantial shareholders and controlling shareholders of
the Company and their respective close associates (having their meanings as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) had any interests in any business which
compete or may compete with the business of the Group or any other conflicts
of interest which any person may have with the Group as at 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITION IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Interests in the underlying Shares

Notes: Being unlisted physically settled share options to acquire ordinary Shares, further details of
which are set out in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” below.

None of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short
positions which he/she was taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO) or which was required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein, or pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS'’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2023, so far as is known to the Directors, the following
persons (other than the Directors and chief executive of the Company) had an
interest or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Interests in the Shares
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FERREEMATRAKG RBE
BRHPIERKXE

RZB_=F+-A=+—RH BEEFHA"
THAL(RRBEERTETHRAERINR
Bin R ABRIR O R R AR SN AR RIREE
HFRHEGRIIEBMEREAFENECMA

WA SAR

R 2z FE 5

Number of Shares held (Note 1)
BEEROEE (1)

Interest of
Beneficial Interest Security controlled Approximate
Name of Shareholder Interest of spouse interest corporation Total percentage
B R A BRER BEER ERES: SZEEER @t HHEk
(%)
Ms. Niu Chengjun 36,042,067 - - - 36,042,067 51
SR ER L (Note 2)
(Pt £ 2)
Ming Cheng Investments Limited 7,354,791 - - - 7,354,791 1041
RRREER LA (Note 3)
(H5E3)
Mr. Zheng Weijing 812,604 - - 7,354,791 8,167,395 11.56
BEREE
Sino-Africa Resources Holdings Limited 5,113,520 - - - 5,113,520 724
PIEERIERBRAA (Note 4)
(P35 4)
Mr. Huang Xiguang - - - 5,113,520 5,113,520 724
AL (Note 4)
(Pt £ 4)
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56

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

EEERE (&)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS'’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES (CONTINUED)

Interests in the Shares (Continued)

Rz s ()

Number of Shares held (Note 1)
BERGEE (1)

FERREEMATRAKG RBE
RGP HERRAR (R)

Interest of

Beneficial Interest of Security controlled Approximate
Name of Shareholder Interest spouse interest corporation Total percentage
IR E BERER [ITRE R ErREz SEEEES B #XESH
(%)
Kimberland Credit Limited - - 8,167,395 - 8,167,395 11.56
TEBREEBRAR (Note 4)
(B 4)
Mr. Shi Andong - - - 8,167,395 8,167,395 11.56
BEZ R A (Note 4)
(KtzE4)
Notes: B3k

These represent the corporation’s/person’s long position in the Shares.

The Company has entered into the Subscription Agreement (“subscription”) (upon which the
total of 36,042,067 shares ("Shares”) with par value of HK$0.01 each in the Company) with the
Subscriber named Ms. Niu Chengjun (“Ms. Niu") on 23 May 2022 which were fully comply with
all conditions on 7 June 2023.

Ming Cheng Investments Limited is a company wholly-owned by Mr. Zheng Weijing.
Sino-Africa Resources Holdings Limited is a company wholly-owned by Mr. Huang Xiguang.

Based on the notices of disclosure of interests filed by each of Kimberland Credit Limited and
Mr. Shi Andong on 23 January 2020, these long positions in the Shares are held by Kimberland
Credit Limited which is directly wholly-owned by Mr. Shi Andong. Under the SFO, Mr. Shi
Andong is deemed to be interested in these long positions in Shares held by Kimberland Credit
Limited.

Every Fifty (50) issued and unissued existing shares of HK$0.1 each in the share capital of the
Company be consolidated into one (1) consolidated share of HK5 each pursuant to the Share
Consolidation which took effect on 22 March 2023.

Reference is made to the circular of the Company dated 8 July 2022 and the announcement of
the Company dated 7 June 2023, the Capital Reduction and the Share Subdivision become
effective before 9:00 a.m. on Thursday, 8 June 2023 (Hong Kong time), the authorised share
capital of the Company is HK$500,000,000 divided into 50,000,000,000 New Shares of par value
of HK$0.01 each.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, there was no person who had
any interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
pursuant to the written resolution of the shareholders of the Company on 20
December 2011 for the purpose of providing incentives or rewards to the
eligible participants for their contribution to the Group and/or enabling the
Group to recruit and retain high-caliber employees and attract human resources
that are valuable to the Group.

The Share Option Scheme has a term of 10 years from its adoption date and was
expired on 19 December 2021. Upon the expiration of the Share Option Scheme,
no further options are offered.

As at the date of this report, there are no share options remained outstanding
under the Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 December 2022, the total number of securities available for issue under
the Share Option Scheme pursuant to its terms was 62,000 Shares, representing
in aggregate approximately 0.18% of the Company’s issued share capital was
lapsed on 14 January 2023.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

BRRETE (&)

Number of share options

BREHE
Outstanding Outstanding
as at Granted Exercised Lapsed as at
1January during during during 31 December
Name Date of grant 2023 the period the period the period 2023
R-ZB-Z=F R-ZB=-=f
—-A-H t=B=+-H
i RHBEH fe KT B8 il BMRTE il P 3 e R AT B
Executive Directors
HITES
Mr. Zhang Gongjun 15 January 2018 16,000 - - (16,000) -
RAEEED —Z-\$—HA+hH
Independent non-executive
Directors
BYFUTES
Dr. Vincent Cheng" 15 January 2018 2400 - - (2,/400) -
HErELo —Z-\$—HA+hH
Dr. Miao Bo" 15 January 2018 2400 - - (2,/400) -
HREELTO —Z-\$—HA+hH
Sub-total 20,800 - - (20,800) -
i
Employees in aggregate 15 January 2018 41,200 - - (41,200) -
EE&F —T-\&—AthH
Total 62,000 - - (62,000) -
st

62,000 share options were lapsed during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Note (¥):

Mr. Zhang Gongjun was resigned with effect on 8 June 2023.
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Dr. Vincent Cheng and Dr. Miao Bo were resigned with effect from 23 February 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company, any of its
subsidiaries, its associated companies, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding
companies a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors or the chief
executive of the Company to hold any interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the Company and/or its associated
corporations (within the meaning of the SFO).

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for insurance cover for Directors’ and officers’
liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior officers arising
out of corporate activities. During the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to
the date of this annual report, save that (i) pursuant to the service contract of
each of the executive Directors, the Company shall indemnify such Directors
against, to the extent permitted by laws, all losses, claims, compensations,
liabilities or expenses incurred as a result of such Directors performing his/her
duties and responsibilities under such contracts, including but not limited to any
legal proceedings against such Directors and except for wilful default or
negligence; and (i) pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them, their or any of their executors or administrators, shall or may incur
or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts,
except such (if any) as they shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or
dishonesty, no other permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 9 of
the Companies (Directors' Report) Regulation (Cap. 622D of the Laws of Hong
Kong)) was or is being in force for the benefit of any of the Directors (whether
made by the Company or otherwise) or any of the directors of an associated
company (if made by the Company).
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INTEREST CAPITALISED

No interest was capitalised by the Group during the financial year ended 31
December 2023.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save for the transactions disclosed under “Non-exempt Continuing Connected
Transactions”, details of the material related party transactions entered into by
the Group are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements which
do not constitute notifiable or connected transactions under the GEM Listing
Rules. The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements (if any) in accordance with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the Reporting Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS

Pursuant to Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company established an
audit committee (the “Audit Committee”) with written terms of reference
aligned with the CG Code. The Audit Committee comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John, Ms Chong Kan Yu and
Mr. Luo Sigang. Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John is the chairman of the Audit Committee.
The main role and functions of the Audit Committee is to assist the Board in
fulfilling its audit duties through the review and supervision of the Company’s
financial reporting, risk management and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023 with the management and the independent auditor of the Company the
annual results and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the Reporting Year, which are of the opinion that such statements have
complied with the applicable accounting standards and that adequate
disclosures have been made.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company believes that good corporate governance provides a framework
that is crucial for effective management, healthy corporate culture, sustainable
business growth and promoting shareholders’ value. The corporate governance
principles of the Company emphasise a quality Board, proper internal controls,
and improves transparency and accountability for the benefit of the
Shareholders.

During the Reporting Year, the Company has adopted and complied with, where
applicable, the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code") as set out in Appendix C1 to the GEM Listing Rules.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Directors confirm that the Company maintained the amount of public float as
required under GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The figures in respect of the Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of financial position and
the related notes thereto for the year ended 31 December 2023 as set out in this
report were audited by Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite Partners”).

An nomination proposal will be submitted to the forthcoming annual general

meeting of the Company to re-appoint Elite Partners as auditor of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Liu Yi
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
18 M 2% BLAT R

elite
= partners

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF FLYING FINANCIAL SERVICE HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

QUALIFIED OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Flying Financial
Service Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 70 to 158, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policies.

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matters described in the “Basis for
Qualified Opinion” section of our report, the consolidated financial statements
give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2023 and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR QUALIFIED OPINION

Comparative figures

The auditor’s report on the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2022 (“2022 Financial Statements”) contained qualification on the
limitation of scope and qualification of the opening balance and corresponding
figures (the "Qualifications”). Details of which has been set out in the auditor’s
report for 2022 Financial Statements dated 14 April 2023.

Since this affect the determination of the results of operations, we were unable
to determine whether adjustments to the results of operations and opening
accumulated loss might be necessary for 2022 Financial Statements. Our audit
opinion on 2022 Financial Statements was modified accordingly. Our opinion on
the current period’s financial statement is also modified because of the possible
effect of this matter on the comparability of the current period figure and the
corresponding figures in the light that 2022 Financial Statements formed the
comparative figure in the current period’s financial statement.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the "Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of
the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

RESRNWER

g
HE-_Z-—_F+-_A=+—HILEENESL
HHHRE((ZEZZFHHHRRE]) B ZEENH
EREHHRERGNREER - URE BV
BRANBEEHTHREER [RBER] - B
HBEENERAEZ-_=FNA+THNAEN -
T FHBRERNZEERS

R B S CEEENET RMKREE
FTRAMNEH T - _FHBERERNCLEEE
MEMEFTEBRELAZE - R ==
FHREMEXEREEELENR - ER =
T FUHERRAK AP SRR
HF ROATRAHEEOUERRER @A
R FTRAERT AL BN 2R
1B »

HAREE B AGRANCEBR LR
(KEFRBFEERD]) ETE - HMEZRFE
AT AENEE S EARSE [ZBE B4R
BRI AZENEE B R IEE— T -
REFEEFMASRMOC(EXSFAER
SAD CATEREITAD  RABIN BEH
W EETTATNEMEREEEME K
FHRE  RPMESHETEIEERTEEE
HARMRE S RIRHER -

ERSRBREERERIE —T-=FFRH



64

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BYZEMHRE (&)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2023. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In
addition to the matter described in the “Basis for Qualified Opinion” section, we
have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be
communicated in our report.

Key audit matter

Expected credit losses (“ECLs”) assessment of loans receivables

The Group had loans receivables of approximately RMB72,999,000 as at 31
December 2023.

ECLs assessment for loans receivables are based on management's estimate of
the ECLs to be incurred, which is estimated by taking into account the credit loss
experience, customers' repayment history, customers’ financial position and an
assessment of both the current and forecast general economic conditions, all of
which involve a significant degree of management judgment.

We have identified ECLs assessment of loans receivables as a key audit matter
because the estimation of ECLs of loans receivables based on the expected
credit losses model involved the use of significant management’s judgment and
estimates.

How the matter was addressed in our audit:
Our key procedures in relation to ECLs assessment of loans receivables included:

Understood and evaluation of related internal controls of ECLs
assessments;

Checked, on a sample basis, the settlement subsequent to the financial
year end to the receivables; and

Assessed the appropriateness of the expected credit losses provisioning
methodology, examined the key data inputs on a sample basis to assess
their accuracy and completeness, and challenged the assumptions
including both historical and forward-looking information used to
determine the expected credit losses.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that fact. As
described in the Basic for Qualified Opinion section above, we were unable to
obtain sufficient appropriate evidence to conclude whether the opening
balances and corresponding figures presented in the current year's consolidated
financial statements were free from material misstatement. Accordingly, we are
unable to conclude whether or not the Other Information is materially misstated
with respect to this matter.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
ﬁl*yﬂgﬂiﬁﬂ: (nlﬁ)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than
for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BYZEMHRE (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether
the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

BB ES GRS M BRRAEN
B5E (&)

HEFRARAEKE AR ETEEF
hgam o RIBFAERBTRE BT
BFEEFERRNBEREENEANTHEE
t-EMmATREY BERBERELLENRE

EEEXRE WREAMB/FEEAT
MEEMN  BIZARZEBMREPIRBERE
AREAMBRRPOEBERE - REA
HRES R  MRMAEEERIFERE
BER - BRMANEREENBEREE RS
BEIEFAESHEAHERRE « A - RRE
ARIERFATREEH BERETRFERLE -

HESGAVMBRRNEEINESTA - &5
MAR  BREE UWREAMBHRERE
BRERRABER S RER -

P BEEEAEBREBEHNTHEN
EERGER  EENBRTRE ABHEA
MHHRERBERER -ZMARE EXEF
SRR BEERIT - HPMIAEMER
EEREEL -

BREMEEIN RPAREAREBBTINE
AHEE RRRH BEXEAERE BER
PIEERT A BRI Y YRR B9 (A B KRB

BPEREAERXER HARMEHEE
BN ERERERENR  YRMFIER
BrRIgE MR RS ER B ILIENME
BMEMEMEER  UNEBERNBERT  HE
BBl 45 Bt



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BAZEAHRE (&)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in
our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's
report is Ms. Chow Ka Li with practising certificate number P0O7809.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Level 23, YF Life Tower
33 Lockhart Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GelEaRAMEEWNER

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HE—_ZE—_=F+_A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—g=-= B F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR®T R AREEF T
Revenue Yeas 7 87,307 76,671
Other income/(expenses), net HEm A (FAx) F5 8 260 (4,548)
Employee benefit expenses EEBAMXE (5,210) (7,272)
Other administrative expenses EMITHHAX (52,338) (52,882)
Loss allowance on financial assets TREEBERE (2,966) (2.377)
Finance costs BE TR 7R 9 (48) (72)
Profit before income tax expense B 1S B 5 2 AT E 10 27,005 9,520
Income tax expense Frigfif = 12 (10,143) (6,700)
Profit for the year FERF 16,862 2,820
Other comprehensive (expense)/income Hit2m (Bk), WA
Item that will not be reclassified to profitor loss T & EZEFH D EEIBHAIER
— Exchange differences on translating — 2 EERENEL Z5E
presentation currency (832) 2,391
Other comprehensive (expense)/income FEHM2EGFIX), WA
for the year (832) 2,391
Total comprehensive income for the year FEXEWAEZE 16,030 5211
Profit for the year attributable to: EhFEERRA
Owners of the Company ZIN/NETEF SN 16,926 2,605
Non-controlling interests FEPE R (64) 215
16,862 2,820
Total comprehensive income for the EBEFEZEWALE:
year attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZAN/NSIEZZS DN 16,094 4,996
Non-controlling interests FEfE IR A (64) 215
16,030 5211
Earnings per share BREF 13
— Basic (RMB cents) — EXR(ARED) 30.70 7.52
— Diluted (RMB cents) —BE(ARED) 30.70 7.52

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

E IR R

AS AT 31 DECEMBER2023 A —_ZE-_=%+=-_HF=+—H

2023 2022
—E_-= —E-
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR TR ARET T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current asset kRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - WE L& 15 5,128 6,496
Current assets REEE
Loans and accounts receivables B ERERR 16 73,116 38451
Prepayments and other receivables TE AT FRIE B H A FE W R IE 17 7,562 5,846
Cash and cash equivalents RehkReFHEER 18 16,561 4912
97,239 49,209
Current liabilities RBAE
Receipts in advance, accruals and TEWGRIE - BETER R
other payables and contract liabilities HiERZEMAENERE 19 23,021 24,719
Loan from directors KEEEZER 20 1,536 1,536
Lease liabilities HEBE 22 1,774 1,774
Current tax liabilities BNEATIE B & 17,131 6,988
43,462 35,017
Net current assets REBEEFE 53,777 14,192
Total assets less current liabilities EEHABRABAE 58,905 20,688
Non-current liability FRBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 3,830 5,195
NET ASSETS EEFHE 55,075 15,493
EHRSRREIZERERAR —EC=FFH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

e MBMRR R (E)

AS AT 31 DECEMBER2023 A —ZE-_=%+—-_H=+—H

2023 2022
—E-=F —E_-—
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B ARBTR AREKTE
EQUITY Em
Equity attributable to owners AAREEAEIGES
of the Company
Share capital fi& 7% 23 611 142,004
Reserves T 26(a) 54,274 (126,765)
54,885 15,239
Non-controlling interests FEERER 190 254
TOTAL EQUITY REHBE 55,075 15,493

On behalf of the board of directors

LiuYi
23
Executive Director

BITEF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 &

E-P-SFTIASt—ALEE

= —=—

Non-controlling

73

Attributable to owners of the Company interests Total
ARTER AR FibfER 4%
Fair value
through other
Share Share Merger Statutory Exchange ~ Shareoption  comprehensive  Accumulated
capial premium resenve Tesene Teserve Teserve  income reserve [osses Total
ERTE
FARMEE
e BhiaE i1 EERE EfGR  ERERE Yt ZiER 43
(Note 26(c)(i) ~ (Note 26(c)i)) ~ (Note 26(c)i)) ~ (Note26(cv))  (Note 26(c)(v))  (Note 26(c)(il)
(aoson)  (RaEaeom) (s (Hieom)  (HEsdw) (FEsow)
RMBO00 RMB000 RMB000 RMBO00 RMBO000 RMB000 RMBO00 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000
ARBTL  ARETR  ARETT  ARETR  AREBTRT  ARETR  AR¥TT  ARETR  AREBTRT  ARETR  AR¥TI
Belance at 1 January 2022 RoBoZ%
-A-RER 142004 217853 116659 51207 285 1067 (25482) (495919) 10243 (14627) (4384)
Loss forthe year FERE - - - - - - - 2605 2605 215 280
Bichange diferences ontransating 5N R AER
foreign operation ExzE - - - - 2391 - - - 2391 - 291
Total comprehensive income FERANEDE
forthe year - - 2391 - - 2605 49% 25 521
Disposal of subsidiaries HEMBAA - (51,200 - 248 1718 14666 14666
Balance at 31 December 2022 A —
T-A=+-BE# 142,004 27853 116659 7 545 1067 - 467,59) 15239 254 15493
Non-controlling
Attributable to owners of the Company interests Total
ARTREAEL FERER a8
Fair value
through other
Share Share Merger Statutory Exchange  Shareoption comprehensive  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve  income reserve losses Total
RATE
FARHRE
s R EE AGE EERE EXfE  BRERE YskE 2R 4%
(Note 26(c])(i))  (Note 26(c)(ii)) ~ (Note 26(c)(iii)) ~ (Note 26(c)(iv)) ~ (Note 26(c)(v)) (Note 26(c)vii))
(Wskoec))  (KiE2e(ci) (Welci) (HiE2elciv)  (HEE26(d)) (KEE26(0)vii)
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARETR  ARMTR  ARETR  ARBTR  ARMTR  ARETR
Balance at 1 January 2023 s
-f-B&# 142,004 217,853 116,659 7 5245 1,067 - (467,596) 15239 254 15493
Profitfor the year ERET - - - - - - - 16,926 16,926 (64) 16,862
Echange diferencesontransating 9N RSB
foreign operation EXEE - - - - (832) - - - (832) - (832)
Tota comprehensive income FEEENREE
forthe year - - - - (832) - - 16,926 16,094 (64) 16,030
Lapse of share options BREXK - - - - (1,067) - 1,067 - - -
Capitalreduction ety (141,718) - - - - - 14,718 - - -
Issue of new shares BIHRA 35 2321 - - - - - 23552 - 23,552
Balance at 31 December 2023 WIEZZE
TZA=T-BER 611 241,080 116,659 7 4413 - - (307,885) 54,885 190 55,075
EHEmBEZERERAR TEI=ZEER
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
GERERER

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 & E—F

TZFt A=t HUEFE

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

2023 2022
—E-=F —E -4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETx ARBF T
Cash flows from operating activities RELETHHNRERE
Profit before income tax expense PR EF 15 %1 7 2 Al A1 27,005 9,520
Adjustments for: TP FIEFEE
Bank interest income RITHEHA (194) ©)
Interest expenses FERX 48 72
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ % « BE MR EITE 1,380 737
Loss allowance on financial assets, net TREEBEREFE 2,966 2,377
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENBARIMER - 45557
Operating cash flows before working LEECEPINCERERE
capital changes 31,205 17,254
Increase in loans and accounts receivables B3 e AR FR3E N (36,855) (39,896)
Increase in deposits paid, prepayments BAES - AR FIE K& E b fE WK IE
and other receivables 0 (2,494) (5271)
(Decrease)/increase in receipts in advance, i‘fﬁﬂﬂl FIA - ERFB A L E N FRIE
accruals and other payables CRA),/#8 (1,866) 11,098
Net cash used in operating activities KRETEFMARSTE (10,010) (16,815)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

RERERER (B)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

75

2023 2022
—E-= T
Note RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR®ET ARBFT
Cash flows from investing activities RERETHHNRERE
Net cash in flow on disposal of subsidiaries HEMRBRARIMBE S RAFE 34 - 11,731
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEWE  BEREE (12) (38)
Repayment from a non-controlling interest FEIE R R 2 iR X - 1
Interest received 2R & 194 9
Net cash from investing activities RETHFRBRELTFE 182 11,703
Cash flows from financing activities REBMEZBHNEESRE
Advance from a director —REZBHN - 1,471
Repayment to a director M—EEREX - (2,993)
Proceeds from issue of new shares BT TS IR 23,552 -
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities EEHE B BEA S D (1,413) -
Net cash generated from/(used in) METEMES (FTA)RE
financing activities HE 22,139 (1,522)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and ReRBESZEHEER
cash equivalents #hn, CRd) B 12,311 (6,634)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning REVINEESRESEEER
of the year 4,912 14,086
Effect of foreign exchange rates, net EERFE  F5 (662) (2,540)
Cash and cash equivalents atend of theyear RERNE S R BREZEER 16,561 4912
EBSREBERERAT —B-=FEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P ERARME

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HE—_ZE—_=F+_A=+—HILFE

1.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

GENERAL

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is an exempted
company with limited liability incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4
May 2011. The registered office of the Company is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, the Cayman
Islands. The principal place of business of the Company is located at Room
1309, 13/F, Mirror Tower Centre, 61 Mody Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,
Hong Kong. The Company's shares have been listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) since
7 May 2012.

The Group, comprising the Company and its subsidiaries, currently
engages in investment in property development projects, operation of
financial services platform, provision of entrusted loans and other loan
services, financial consultation services and finance lease services mainly
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The Company acts as an
investment holding company.

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate and
ultimate holding company of the Company is Ming Cheng Investments
Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (the “BVI").

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(A) AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs THAT ARE
MANDATORILY EFFECTIVE FOR THE CURRENT
YEAR
In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA”) for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the Insurance Contracts
October 2020 and February
2022 Amendment to HKFRS17)

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two Model
Rules
Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting Policies

HKFRS Practice statement?

The application of other new and amendments to HKFRSs in the
current year had no material impact on the Group’s financial
performance and positions for the current and prior years and/or
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements
except as disclosed below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

2.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) (CONTINUED)

Change in accounting policy on offsetting arrangement
in long service payment scheme in HKSAR

In June 2022, the HKSAR Government enacted the Employment and
Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”) which will be effective
from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). Under the Amendment
Ordinance, any accrued benefits attributable to the employer’s mandatory
contributions under mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF Benefits”) of
an entity would no longer be eligible to offset against its obligations on
long service payment (“LSP”) for the portion of the LSP accrued on or after
the Transition Date. There is also a change in the calculation basis of last
monthly wages for the portion of the LSP accrued before the Transition
Date.

Prior to 1 January 2023, the Group applied practical expedient in HKAS 19
paragraph 93(b) (the "Practical expedient”) to account for the offsetable
MPF Benefits as deemed employee contributions to reduce the current
service costs in the period in which the related services were rendered.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting implications of the
abolition of the MPFLSP offsetting mechanism in HKSAR” (the “Guidance”)
which provides clarified and detailed guidance on the accounting
considerations relating to the abolition of the offsetting mechanism. The
Guidance clarified that following the enactment of the Amendment
Ordinance, LSP is no longer a “simple type of contributory plans” to which
the Practical expedient had been intended to apply.

By following the Guidance, the Group has therefore changed its
accounting policy and ceased to apply the Practical expedient and
reattribute the deemed employee contributions on a straight-line basis
from the date when services by employees first lead to their benefits in
terms of the LSP legislation in accordance with HKAS 19 paragraph 93(a).
The cumulative effect of recognising these adjustments as of 31
December 2022 or for the year then ended was not material and hence no
adjustment was made to the beginning accumulated losses, or another
component of equity.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) (CONTINUED)

Change in accounting policy on offsetting
arrangement in long service payment scheme in
HKSAR (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 1

In accordance with the guidance set out in the amendments, accounting
policy information that is standardised information, or information that
only duplicates or summarises the requirements of the HKFRSs, is
considered immaterial accounting policy information and is no longer
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements so as not
to obscure the material accounting policy information disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current
year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements is amended to replace
all instances of the term “significant accounting policies” with “material
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy information is material
if, when considered together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may be
material because of the nature of the related transactions, other events or
conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all
accounting policy information relating to material transactions, other
events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses to disclose
immaterial accounting policy information, such information must not
obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the “Practice
Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-
step materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and to judge
whether information about an accounting policy is material to its financial
statements. Guidance and examples are added to the Practice Statement.
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ANNUAL REPORT 2023

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) (CONTINUED)

Change in accounting policy on offsetting
arrangement in long service payment scheme in
HKSAR (CONTINUED)

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Continued)

In accordance with the guidance set out in the amendments, accounting
policy information that is standardised information, or information that
only duplicates or summarises the requirements of the HKFRSs, is
considered immaterial accounting policy information and is no longer
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements so as not
to obscure the material accounting policy information disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The application of the amendments has had no material impact on the
Group's financial position and performance but has affected the disclosure
of the Group’s accounting policies set out in note 3 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Except for disclosed above, the application of the new and amendments
to HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the Group's
financial positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or
on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs"”) (CONTINUED)

NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO HKFRSs IN ISSUE BUT
NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKAS 28
and HKFRS 10

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture (amendments)?®
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback'
Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current!
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants'
Supplier Finance Arrangements!

Amendments to HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements
Amendments to HKAS 1
Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

! effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024
2 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

: to be determined

The directors anticipate that the application of all new and amendments
to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.
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3.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

(c)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations
(hereinafter collectively referred to as the "HKFRS") and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for financial instruments that are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost basis, except for investment properties and
certain financial assets, which are measured at fair values as
explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong Dollar
("HKS"). The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi ("RMB") since most of the companies comprising the
Group are operating in RMB environment and the functional
currency of most of the companies comprising the Group is RMB.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

3.

mREXE

(a)

(b)

(c)

18 15 & B
HAaVBBRIREMB TG
HELEL FEGHEYN(HFES
AEAD EREBEUATRERIEE
MBEHEREL]) REE QARG
BREREMMBE - N RE BT
BERBEEBEBHXMCEMES LT
HMARERERIE -

REMBHRREREE

BREREHREMTARATE
AHESN B NS ETBRAH
HAWBBRIIRBELKNAREE

B A—RERRERRBHT
[ R E2 ATEE -

SHEER

AR B RS R R TYARIBE 2 AR AL R
BOMEUAFEFENRAEDER
ATEREAERIN FHLTXH
PIZ G -

DERZIEME
ARRABHWEEE /ET(BIT]) °
=N EIDRN SEIPANE2 S ONCIDED S
ARB(TARBRERKLE A
RAEEZRZB AR ZHEEH
BARKE BEAMBHRRIIAA
REZ27 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

me

Bt %5 3 2R MY = (AR

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HE—_ZE - =F+_A=+—HBUIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Business combination and basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. Inter-company
transactions and balances between companies of the Group
together with unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment
on the asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the effective dates of acquisition
or up to the effective dates of disposal, as appropriate. Where
necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those
used by other members of the Group.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling
interests that represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary
is the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus such non-
controlling interest’s share of subsequent changes in equity. Total
comprehensive income is attributed to such non-controlling
interests even if this results in those non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on
disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of
the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (i) the previous carrying amount of the assets
(including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-
controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted
for in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets
or liabilities were disposed of.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(b) Subsidiaries

(c)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Group is able to exercise
control. The Company controls an investee if all three of the
following elements are present: (i) power over the investee, (ii)
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the investee, and (iii) the
ability to use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is
reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there
may be a change in any of these elements of control.

In the Company's statement of financial position, investments in
subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. The results
of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase
price and the costs directly attributable to the acquisition of the
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.
All other repairs and maintenance are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(c)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to write off
their cost net of expected residual value over their estimated useful
lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives, residual value and
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
the end of each reporting period. The useful lives are as follows:

Buildings leased for own use  Over the lease terms
carried at costs

Leasehold improvements Over the leases term but not
exceeding 5 years

Furniture, fixtures and 3 years to 5 years

office equipment

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if
its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s estimated recoverable
amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sale proceeds and its
carrying amount, and is recognised in profit or loss on disposal.

(c)
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EREFHHE (&)

(d) Leasing (d) #HE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 4.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or finance leases)
are required to be capitalised in the statement of financial position
as right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting policy
choices exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases which
are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which the underlying
asset is of low-value. The Group has elected not to recognise right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value assets and leases for
which at the commencement date have a lease term less than 12
months. The lease payments associated with those leases have
been expensed on straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is recognised at cost and would comprise: (i)
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability (see
below for the accounting policy to account for lease liability); (i) any
lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less
any lease incentives received; (iii) any initial direct costs incurred by
the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the lessee
in dismantling and removing the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those
costs are incurred to produce inventories. The Group measures the
right-of-use assets applying a cost model. Under the cost model,
the Group measures the right-of-use assets at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liability.

The depreciation method used for right-of-use assets is the same as
that used for property, plant and equipment. Right- of-use assets in
which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term are
depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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4. EREFEEHE)
HE (&)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(d) Leasing (Continued) (d)

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the lease
payments that are not paid at the date of commencement of the
lease. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the Group's
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right of use the underlying asset
during the lease term that are not paid at the commencement date
of the lease are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments
less any lease incentives receivable; (ii) variable lease payments that
depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date; (iii) amounts expected to be
payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; (iv) the
exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is reasonably certain
to exercise that option; and (v) payments of penalties for
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising
an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures the
lease liability by: (i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest
on the lease liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the
lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the carrying amount to
reflect any reassessment or lease modifications, e.g., a change in
future lease payments arising from change in an index or rate, a
change in the lease term, a change in the in substance fixed lease
payments or a change in assessment to purchase the underlying
asset.
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EREFHHE (&)

(d) Leasing (Continued) (d) #HE (&)

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 4.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Lease liability (Continued)

When the Group revises its estimate of the term of any lease
(because, for example, it re-assesses the probability of a lessee
extension or termination option being exercised), it adjusts the
carrying amount of the lease liability to reflect the payments to
make over the revised term, which are discounted using a revised
discount rate. The carrying value of lease liabilities is similarly revised
when the variable element of future lease payments dependent on
a rate or index is revised, except the discount rate remains
unchanged. In both cases, an equivalent adjustment is made to the
carrying value of the right-of-use asset, with the revised carrying
amount being amortised over the remaining (revised) lease term. If
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is adjusted to zero, any
further reduction is recognised in profit or loss.

When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms of a lease with
the lessor, if the renegotiation results in one or more additional
assets being leased for an amount commensurate with the
standalone price for the additional rights-of-use obtained, the
modification is accounted for as a separate lease, in all other cases,
where the renegotiated increases the scope of the lease (whether
that is an extension to the lease term, or one or more additional
assets being leased), the lease liability is remeasured using the
discount rate applicable on the modification date, with the right-of-
use asset being adjusted by the same amount. The lease liability is
further adjusted to ensure its carrying amount reflects the amount
of the renegotiated payments over the renegotiated term, with the
modified lease payments discounted at the rate applicable on the
modification date and the right-of-use asset is adjusted by the same
amount.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e)

Financial instruments

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a accounts receivables without a
significant financing component) is initially measured at fair
value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. Account
receivable without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in
their entirely when determining whether their cash flows are
solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on
the Group's business model for managing the asset and the
cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its
debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective interest rate
method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses
and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

4. EREFEEHE)

(e) E@MITH
(i) =s@MEE

W A FEFABZNOTH
BE(MEBAREKDWE
WOBR B ER HN) 1 2 1 X SF(E N
B E R BT B R ARRE O
RBRAGE - WEEKBE
B ) EUBR RV P 1 X 5 8

e -

FIBEAERTABERHERN
ERMEENRSB (BIAEH
AABERHNEEERE H)W®
R-BHHREBERATEN —KRH
45 5 B S8 1 R 7 9 B R
RNEENETHEERE -

ERERAATETLAESHE
ENRERERTERIMNAR

@ R BB
ETREE -

BT A

SERZEAR

BERTANRETEIRRA
SEHEEZEEEMNEBRA
RZBEEENRESRERFH -
AEEBEBEBIADER=

BERA  RUBANRER

Eir=875
EMFEEZSE

REREER

SRS R B W EEREH
FRAET 8 - IREH AT B8
TREERKRBBERN XL
B FBURA - B W M

BRRESNER

2o BUY

FER AR PR B TR

EBERREZERERAT

—E-=EER

89



20

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Financial assets (Continued)

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held
for trading, the Group could irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in the investment's fair value in other
comprehensive income. This election is made on an
investment-by-investment basis. Equity investments at FVOCI
are measured at fair value. Dividend income are recognised in
profit or loss unless the dividend income clearly represents a
recovery of part of the cost of the investments. Other net
gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income and are not reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
periods. All other equity instruments are classified as FVTPL,
whereby changes in fair value, dividends and interest income
are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses ("ECLs") on loans and accounts receivables, other
receivables, deposit paid and financial asset measured at
amortised cost. The ECLs are measured on either of the
following bases: (1) 12-month ECLs: these are the ECLs that
result from possible default events within the 12 months after
the reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that
result from all possible default events over the expected life
of a financial instrument. The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period
over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses.
Credit losses are measured as the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then discounted at
an approximation to the assets’ original effective interest rate.

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for
financial consultation service income receivables, platform
services income receivables and finance lease receivables and
has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on the
12-month ECLs. However, when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be
based on the lifetime ECLs.

4. EREFEEHE)

/T A (E&)

(e)

ERSRBREZERERAT —T=

(ii)

cREEREBERSRE (@)
EHEEEEREEEENH
EINREGE - EEEBENER
SEREBEEHNENNEGHNRE
2 BN [E TR HAUCER B P A
RenesHNERETHES
B -ZEEHREEERBE
PRA AT R ZFRRLIR o
REBEEERAS SRR BE
FIAR TS WA~ PRI & BR 7% U
A K e W s B 7 B R IA RS 18
#H WERBEFRABHEER
Eﬂéﬂ' SEHEEEE - A%

‘“iﬁﬁgzﬁﬁlﬂﬁﬁg
Eﬁ?ﬁi“‘%ﬁ HEOREERE I
REBABEMHEERREER
FVELH L -

PREMEBEMEEMS @ &
HEEBFERE2EAERE
EEREE AWM WHEHN
KEERBRBEIZN  BES
NERANFRHEEBRAELE -

=EEH

91



92

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition and when
estimating ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and
qualitative information analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly if it is more than 90 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit- impaired
when: (1) the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations
to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions
such as realising security (if any is held); or (2) the financial
asset is more than 90 days past due.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)
Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is
calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying
amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset. For non
credit-impaired financial assets interest income is calculated
based on the gross carrying amount.

Financial liabilities
The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the
purpose for which the liabilities were incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including other payables,
contract liabilities, amount due to a shareholder, bank
borrowings, accruals, lease liabilities, corporate bond and
convertible bonds issued by the Group are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method. The related interest expense is recognised in profit
orloss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(e)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Financial instruments (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments
through the expected life of the financial asset or liability, or
where appropriate, a shorter period.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation to the
financial asset expire or when the financial asset has been
transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for
derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services, excluding those
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any
trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to
the contract, control of the goods or service may be transferred over
time or at a point in time. Control of the goods or service is
transferred over time if the Group's performance:

provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the Group performs; or

does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods or service.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(f)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Revenue recognition (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which provides
the customer a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods
or services to the customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amounts receivable,
discounted using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and the
customer at contract inception. Where the contract contains a
financing component which provides a significant financing benefit
to the Group, revenue recognised under that contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. For contracts where the period between
the payment and the transfer of the promised goods or services is
one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical expedient
in HKFRS 15.

Platform services income
The service is to match borrower’s financing target with
investor's fund. Service charge is recognised at a point in time
after when matching is successful and the borrower draws
down the loan, which representing the borrower accepts the
service performed by the Group.

However, the Group considers the impact from recognition of
contract assets is immaterial and therefore no contract assets is
recognised during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HE—_ZE - =F+_A=+—HBUIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(9)

Income taxes
Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities
adjusted for items that are non-assessable or disallowable for
income tax purposes and is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for tax
purposes. Except for goodwill and recognised assets and liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, deferred tax
liabilities are recognised for all temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates
expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset is realised based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of reporting period.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and jointly
controlled entities, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they
relate to items recognised in other comprehensive income in which
case the taxes are also recognised in other comprehensive income
or when they relate to items recognised directly in equity in which
case the taxes are also recognised directly in equity.

ERSRBREZERERAT —T=

4, EAREFHE(H)
(9) FTEH

FRR TSR | &R T
TiIE o

BB IR SR IE A B X155 2 m M &
B LB HENS ﬁ/,\p%ﬁii
THIBIAREHFE - 174

XE%HEB‘EELE%MEZ&%%E °

BEEHRBESHAENSREARN
EEMNBEREEERERERS
MEESENERNEZE2ER Ko
BRIAVESHTIERRENHE
WREERBEN BELCHEBEARG
T AENEZEETER WEA
FA DA 85 0] 0050 R = R A JERR A
mA SRR EERBEE - &
ERIEAR SRS AR AR E B
REELFERMOBREABEE IR
BN EEAGENEREENR
MATHRANMREZ -

EIETR IR B E RN E 2 F R F
RREBNREEENERTER
EZEEREARE AR ERE
BHBEOLRERZRAETIENA
5 R B EBR SN o

FIEHREZPHER  WWATEH
B E A2 s AEREIE B M
BRI BN T BB EE
fthEER R R Sk iNpTE TR
EENEEZTRANIEEMEAE &
WIERT » BN EEIMER P IER o

=EEH

97



98

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HE—_ZE-_=F+_A=+—HUIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(h)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Foreign currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”).

In the individual financial statements of the consolidated entities,
foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency of the individual entity using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At reporting date, monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the reporting date retranslation of monetary assets and
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined and are reported as part
of the fair value gain or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual financial
statements of foreign operations, originally presented in a currency
different from the Group's presentation currency, have been
converted into RMB. Assets and liabilities have been translated into
RMB at the closing rates at the reporting date. Income and expenses
have been converted into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates or at the average rates over the reporting period
provided that the exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly. Any
differences arising from this procedure have been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in the
exchange reserve in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(i) Employee benefits

(i)

(ii)

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other
than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled
wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual
reporting period in which the employees render the related
service. Short term employee benefits are recognised in the
year when the employees render the related service.

Defined contribution retirement plans

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit
scheme ("MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance, for all of its employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employee’s basic salaries.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
the PRC are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentage of
employees’ salaries to the central pension scheme.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in profit or loss as
employees render services during the year. The Group's
obligations under these plans are limited to the fixed
percentage contributions payable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

)]

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)
At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of the following assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased:

property, plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets);

investments in subsidiaries.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use) of an asset is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to
its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under the
HKFRSs.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, to the extent that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as
income immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which case the reversal
of impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase under that
HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows expected
to be derived from the asset or cash generating unit, discounted to
their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset or cash-generating unit.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(k)

)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event and it is probable to result in an
outflow of economic benefits that can be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed by the occurrence or
non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote.

Related parties
(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company's parent.

4. EREFEEHE)

BERIREE
MAEERBESRHELEE S
EEEMEBRKHEISBEREEZ

(k)

U]

ERSRBREZERERAT —T=

afE

I A& IR ET AT BE B B

E/ﬁtﬂET E\ﬂ/\ﬁgum 1%

fidl 75 3 R4S 7 R 25 07 SR B AT RE M R
R HAEASEHEBEZETNS

w8

ZETERE/IAREE K

FBHUEN @mKRBI -
BEEE(ARTFRAREEELE—F
HZREMHMBEEAELER) g

BEEAIABE BRIFGHRLEFR
M KB A BE AR o

BES

@ MWEATNBER ZBALTH

ZBANTRI R KB ERE S
HAKEERE

() HASEAEHIZHH
[ 422 il 48

i) BHAKEBEEATEN:
sk

S

[

(i) AAEEHARF
RITEEEAR -

=EEH



102

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

() Related parties (Continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions apply:

0]

(i)

(i)

(iv)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of
a group of which the other entity is a member);

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party;

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of the employees of the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

() Related parties (Continued)
(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity); or

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which itis a
part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the Company’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(i) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

(m) Share capital

(n)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is determined
using the nominal value of shares that have been issued.

Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of capital are
deducted from capital (net of any related income tax benefit) to the
extend they are incremental costs directly attributable to the equity
transaction.

Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares segment
information based on the regular internal financial information
reported to the executive directors for their decisions about
resources allocation to the Group's business components and for
their review of the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information reported to the
executive directors are determined following the Group's major
operations.

The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting segment

results under HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments” are the same as those
used in its financial statements prepared under HKFRSs.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in
the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The key sources of estimation uncertainty

In addition to information disclosed elsewhere in these financial
statements, other key sources of uncertainty at the end of each reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are
discussed below.

(i) Impairment of financial assets

The Group adopts the impairment policy to recognise loss
allowances for ECLs on receivables. ECLs are probability-weighted
estimate of credit losses and the Group has to make judgement to
determine whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition by considering and analysing
on the Group's historical experience and informed credit assessment
including forward-looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group determines its operating segments based on the reports
reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker that are used to make

strategic decision.

The Group has four (2022: four) reportable and operating segments. The

segments are managed separately as each business offers different
services and requires different business strategies. The following summary
describes the operations in each of the Group's reportable segments:

Investment in property
development projects

Operation of financial
services platform

Provision of entrusted loan,
pawn loan, other loan
services, and financial
consultation services

Finance lease services

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Investments income and relevant
consultation service income generated
from LPs, which invest in property
development projects and are accounted
for as financial assets at FVTPL;

Provision of financial consultation services
and financial services platform;

Provision of short-term and long-term
loans and financial consultation services to
borrowers and financial institutions; and

Provision of long-term finance lease
services.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. DEER (&
Segment information about reportable segments: AEWDFER
(a) Business segments (a) EBHIB
Provision of
entrusted loan,
pawn loan,
other loan
Investment  Operation of services and
in property financial financial Finance
development services  consultation lease
projects platform services services Total
RUZAER
BEEH-
RER EfFeR HtEIRE wE
NERREH BHETE REBERRE RERS o
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTR  AR®Tn AR¥TR  AR®Tn  ARET#n
For the year ended BE-Z-=5+-K=1-AH
31 December 2023 LEE
Revenue from external customers RENSEP RS - 83,408 3,899 - 87,307
Reportable segment profit DEX GRS - 36,443 1,704 - 38,147
Iterns included in the measure of AR IR B R
segment profit or loss o AHEEFENEE
segment assets:
Other income EfhlA - (19) - - (19)
Depreciation of property, nx - BERSENE
plantand equipment - 15 - - 15
Loss allowance on financial assets PHEERRAER - m 2,195 - 2,966
Addition of non-current assets FEERDEE - 12 - - 12
Salaries and wages HeRIE - 3,925 - - 3,925
Asat 31 December 2023 R=BZ=Z%+-A=1+-H
Reportable segment assets NERHHEE - 11,802 72,999 - 84,801
Reportable segment liabilities NERHHEE - 40,333 - - 40,333
EHSBRBZERERAT ZECICZFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HE—_ZE-_=F+_A=+—HUIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

6. TEER (&)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

(a) Business segments (Continued) (a) EHK 2B (E)
Provision of
entrusted loan,
pawn loan,
other loan
Investment Operation of services and
in property financial financial
development services consultation Finance lease
projects platform services services Total
REZTER
BEET ﬁﬁﬂ
RENME BESR  ERRBER
FREE RBTe UBERRE BEARERE B3t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  AREFT  ARETRT  AREFRT  ARETR
For the year ended BE-Z--ft=B=t-H
31 December 2022 LFE
Revenue from external customers RENBEPHYE - 75225 1446 - 76671
Reportable segment (Joss)/profit E2EAH (BR)/EF - 21903 (1,178) - 20725
Items included in the measure of SADBEFRERER
segment profit or loss or PEEETENER :
segment assets:
Other expenses/(income), net EtEs/ (A58 - 9 - - 9
Depreciation of property, 0% BELRRENE
plant and equipment - 737 - - 737
Loss allowance on financial assets CREEFERE - (247) 2624 - 2377
Addition of non-current assets REERDEE - 6935 - - 6935
Salaries and wages H5eRIE - 5049 - - 5049
As at 31 December 2022 RZB-Z#+-A=t-H
Reportable segment assets NERNHEE - 17345 3793 - 55277
Reportable segment liabilities ERHHER - 29427 - - 29427

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HE—_ZE - =F+_A=+—HBUIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. DEEFR (E)

(b) Reconciliation of reportable segment revenues, (b) TE2Ho U zE BRABH
profit before income tax expenses, assets and MEXpaf EERAEEZ
liabilities ¥R

2023 2022
—E-= T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTE
Revenue U =
Revenue from external customers REINEE P H M 87,307 76,671
Profit before income tax expense RRATE BB 2 AR R
Reportable segment profit A 23R 2% A 38,147 20,725
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HENBARNEBE - (4,557)
Unallocated corporate expenses RAMARRAEZ (11,142) (6,648)
Consolidated gain before income tax expense [ Fr {554 5 X AR & Wzt 27,005 9,520
Assets BE
Reportable segment assets AEHHBEE 84,801 55,277
Cash and cash equivalents ReMReFEIEE 1,053 103
Unallocated corporate assets ROWMAREE 16,513 325
Consolidated total assets e EEARE 102,367 55,705
Liabilities afE
Reportable segment liabilities Tzi& \‘BE & 40,333 29,427
Unallocated corporate liabilities N WNGIN=E 6,959 10,785
Consolidated total liabilities e E (EEEE 47,292 40,212
ERSHMREERERAR “EC=FER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 6. DEEFR (&)
(c) Geographicinformation and disaggregation of () EFEAKRENHHEERNR
revenue from contracts with customers palkiiy
In the following table, segment revenue of the Group's reportable TREIIEFZMWETS  FER
segments are disaggregated by primary geographical market, major %18 B RAER W =M EEF D A
products and service lines and timing of revenue recognition. SEUZ2FHH BRI UE -
Provision of entrusted loan,
pawn loans, other loan
Operation of services and financial
financial services platform consultation services Total
For the year ended HZt-A=t-H RUZTER BREEH
31 December LEE Hit BT RT
EESRBETA DR B R R @it
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-z=f —T--fF CZB-zZf —Z--% CZBZ=ZFE C-ZT-__f%
Primary geographical markets TEHETS
PRC FE 83,408 75,225 3,899 1446 87,307 76,671
Hong Kong BA - - - - - -
Total 1Bt 83,408 75225 3,899 1446 87,307 76,671
Revenue g
Platform services income TFRRBMA 83,408 75225 - - 83,408 75225
Interest income FEMA - - 3,899 1446 3,899 1446
83,408 75,225 3,899 1446 87,307 76,671
Timing of revenue recognition A KRR
Ata point in time RE—EREE 83,408 75225 - - 83,408 75225

(d)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

The Group's non-current assets (excluding financial assets) are
predominantly attributable to a single geographical region, which is
the PRC. Therefore, no analysis of non-current assets by
geographical region is presented.

Information about major customers
The Group's customer base is diversified.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

7.

REVENUE

Revenue, which is also the Group's turnover, represents the income from
its principal activities. Revenue recognised during the year are as follows:

iy 2

W (MAAEENEXR) BREEE

ZIEFBA - FARARERH U EMT

2023 2022
—EB-=F g
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARET T
Revenue from contract with customers BB HREERIE 15%
within the scope of HKFRS 15 HEANE &AW
Platform services income F &R A 83,408 75,225
Revenue from other sources: H b SORMA
Interest income F B U A 3,899 1,446
87,307 76,671

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by the timing
of revenue recognition and by geographic markets is disclosed in note
6(C).

The following table provides information about contract liabilities from
contracts with customers.

RERRENRERBET ST B TP
BHRERERME6Q -

TR BREFENNENERENER -

2023 2022
—E-= —_ET-—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTTT
Contract liabilities (Note 21) AHEE (ME21) 470 385

Contract liabilities increased by RMB85,000 in 2023 as a result of the
advance consideration received from the customers for platform services.

The transaction price allocated to the performance obligation that is
unsatisfied, has not been disclosed, as substantially all of the Group’s
contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15 have a duration of
one year or less.

g

HRAREBAROIELAN(REEY
BREENE15HKAE) OBRER—F
HAT  MARERBEDEERTKENE

TR HER -

EBERREZERERAT

HRBRFEREEEFRBBRNKE &
BER-Z_=FHEIMARKES50007T -

—E-=EER

111



112

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HE—_ZE-_=F+_A=+—HUIFE

8. OTHER INCOME/(EXPENSES), NET 8. HttlA (BxX) B
2023 2022
—EC=F —E-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARETF T
Bank interest income RITH B M A 194 9
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries & B A Rl B 1E - (4,557)
Others Efb 66 -
260 (4,548)
9. FINANCE COSTS 9. BB
2023 2022
—E_=F —E-=
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET R ARBEF T
Interest on lease liabilities HEBERNE 48 72
10. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX EXPENSE 10. BREFSHBAZ AR R
2023 2022
—EC-= g
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETR ARBETF T
Auditor's remuneration Z A B & 580 790
Depreciation charge ERX
— Owned property, plant and equipment —BEYE - BERREB 15 300
— Right-of-use assets included in other buildings — &t AR ARSI TAE 8 A &Y
leased for own use carried at cost HtEFHEREEE 1,365 437
Marketing expense =Fiz1ba 43,756 34,114
Employee benefit expenses including EERAALZ (RIEESHH)
directors’ remuneration 5,210 7,273
Salaries and wages HehkIE 4,734 6,687
Pension scheme contributions RINEFTEI R
— defined contribution plans — ERHEGTE 476 586
ANNUAL REPORT 2023  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited




(a) Directors’ remuneration
The remuneration of each of the directors for the year is set out

below:

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HE—_ZE - =F+_A=+—HBUIFE

M EEFHMREEESHEAL

(a) EEHM

FRATREFOHMEHIIWT -

Salaries
allowances
and benefits Pension
in kind scheme
Fees (Note (a)) contributions Total
e RER
ENER BR#kg
Be (B (a)) TEIM® @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTRL AR¥TR AR%®TR AR®T:R
Year ended 31 December 2023 BZz-Z_=F
TZA=+-HLEE
Executive directors: HTEE -
Mr. Zhang Gongjun (Note (c)) RO FEE () - 298 - 298
Ms. Liu Yi (‘Ms. Liu") BBzt ([8xt)) - 217 - 217
- 515 - 515
Independent non-executive directors: BB ITEE
Dr. Vincent Cheng (Note (b)) élb,a%m Bt (M o) 22 - - 22
Dr. Miao Bo (Note (b)) HRE T (7 0) 22 - - 2
Mr. Hsu Tawei (Note (c)) f%ﬂa% & (W) 65 - - 65
Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John (Note (b)) & (M3 () 92 - - 92
Ms. Chong Kan Yu (Note (b)) Hfiﬁﬁﬁi (5 () 92 - - 92
Mr. Luo Sigang (Note (c)) 2B E (P ©) 61 - - 61
354 - - 354
Total st 354 515 - 869
EHSBRBZERERAT ZECICZFER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HE—_ZE-_=F+_A=+—HUIFE

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED)

L%%ﬁ%&i%%%%ﬁki

(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued) (a) ESFHM (&)
Salaries
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme
Fees inkind (Note (a)) contributions Total
I
| woEH RN
e GEG) sTEIf® M@t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFT ARETT ARETT AR®TE
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-E-—f
TZA=t-RLFE
Executive directors: HiTEE:
Mr. Zhang Gongjun RREEE - 565 - 565
Ms. Wan Suyuan ("Ms. Wan") EzEu+((8xt))
(Note (d)) (B3 () - 257 - 257
Mr. Leung Man Kit ("Mr. Leung) BYEEE(REE])
(Note (d)) GEIC) - 599 - 599
Ms. Liu Yi ('Ms. Liv") (Note (d)) Bt (1812t ) (M) - 125 - 125
- 1,546 - 1,546
Independent non-executive directors:  BUFHTEE -
Dr. Vincent Cheng giREt 123 - - 123
Dr. Miao Bo HREL 123 - - 123
Mr. Hsu Tawei RAREE 123 - - 123
Mr. Tsao Hoi Ho (“Mr. Tsao”) EEREE(ERAED
(Note (d)) GEIC) 13 - - 13
Mr. Lau Jing Yeung, William (‘Mr.Lau’)  BIEH LA (1% 4])
(Note (d) GEAC) 92 - - 92
574 - - 574
Total st 574 1,546 - 2120
Notes: B3
@ The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their @) FRATHRTEEHeTERHEER
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and AAE RAEEEBERBRST X
the Group. The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown e ERIIRBIYIFNTEEHEEE
above were mainly for their services as directors of the Company. RREBERARETNRBAEZN o
(b)  Mr. Kam Hou Yin, John and Ms. Chong Kan Yu were appointed as directors of b)) SEBEIEARHERMAZLIERZAERAK
the Company; while Dr. Vincent Cheng and Dr. Miao Bo were resigned as the RAEF MO8FRELTRBEKELD
directors of the Company, with effect on 23 February 2023. WERRRESERE BT _=F_
AZ+=84%%-
© Mr. Zhang Gongjun and Mr. Hsu Tawei were resigned as directors of the © RABEERGRELEEBHEERADA
Company; while Mr. Luo Sigang was appointed as the directors of the ERRE MEBRSLERERIAAR
Company, with effect on 7 June 2023. REESE BT _=FAtHER -
(d) Mr. Leung, Mr. Lau and Ms. Liu were appointed as the directors of the Company (d) 2o 2 5‘& ERBLTEERT AR
with effect on 1 February 2022, 11 March 2022, 23 May 2022 respectively; while RAIEBEF HRHIR_FT=_=_F=-_F—
Mr. Leung, Mr. Lau, Mr. Tsao and Ms. Wan resigned on 5 December 2022. = I ¢ A+—BRk=%2==
FRAZ+=R4W MBLE - 2%
£ EBEAERBZLIERZ=ZZT=Z
+ZAHBBT -
ANNUAL REPORT 2023  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONANDFIVEHIGHEST 11. EEFMRERERZREaMES AL

PAID INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED) (&)
(b) Five highest paid individuals b) TEEEMEAL
The five highest paid individuals of the Group included four (2022: AREFBHZ T _=FKR_T__
one) directors whose emoluments are included above for the years F+-_A=+—HLFEREES
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. e ATHhpE—2 (==
—HES BEZHMEEN L3
The analysis of the emoluments of the remaining one (2022: four) Efmia (ZE—_F 0B &5
highest paid individuals is as below: e ATHBETET
2023 2022
—EZ= T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AREBTT
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e RMREYMRET 468 2,265
Pension scheme contributions RIS EIHRK 14 -
482 2,265
Their emoluments were within the following band: BEZFMEELLNT
2023 2022
—E-=F —E- =
Number of Number of
individual individual
ATHE AT EE
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 = % 1,000,000 7 7T 1 4
(c)  No director or any of the highest paid individuals waived or agreed (c) FR HEEEFITAESHES A
to waive any emoluments for the year (2022: nil). No emoluments THEXREREETMHE (ZF
were paid by the Group to the directors or any of the highest paid ZZF ) cFR - AEEBER
individuals of the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining AEENESHEMNESME AL
the Group or as compensation for loss of office for the year (2022: XA EAMEe  ERERFERE MBS
nil). T N BR 7N 55 [ By 1Y) 2% 8 o B B 4 1B

(ZEB-—F &) -

EBSBEBERERAT —B-=E5%H
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS (CONTINUED)

(d) The emoluments paid or payable to member of senior management
other than the directors were within the following band:

%ﬁ%%ﬁ@ﬂ&ﬂ%%%@ﬂﬁki
=

(d) mEREEEXE (EFKRINEN
KEM e FMEEDT

2023 2022
—E-= —_=E_
Number of Number of
individual individual
AT EH ATEHE
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = % 1,000,000 7T 1 1
12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 12. FRIfEHAX
2023 2022
—E-= —_=E_
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥TR ARBTT

PRC Enterprise Income Tax PR EMEH
— Provision in current year — RFERAE

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on profits arising in
or derived from the jurisdictions in which members of the Group are
domiciled and operated.

Enterprise income tax (“EIT") arising from the PRC for the year was
calculated at 25% (2022: 25%) of the estimated assessable profits of
subsidiaries operating in the PRC during the year. According to the EIT law,
the taxable income of an enterprise shall be the total revenue of such
enterprise, deducted by any non-assessable revenue, exempted revenue,
other deductions and amount of offsetting any accumulated tax losses.
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10,143 6,700
10,143 6,700

AEBEERAREXE RBIELELR
AAERFTELSMMAGR - IHEER
BENFAEH -

RERNMPRECEAEHE ((REMEHE]
BFRNIEEEBENTEWE QG HTER
R R B925% (ZZF = —4F : 25%) 5t & -
BIBCEMSHE  CENERRKAZ
Bz MU R 4R 2 A FEFE SR B K
I B U ES - H AR I & A LA 8
AR RFRIEBEERNHE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

me

Bt %5 3 2R MY = (AR

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HE—_ZE - =F+_A=+—HBUIFE

2. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2023 is calculated at 16.5%
(2022: 16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year, except for
one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying corporation under the
two-tiered Profits Tax rate regime. For this subsidiary, the first HK$2 million
of assessable profits are taxed at 8.25% and the remaining assessable
profits are taxed at 16.5%. The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for this
subsidiary was calculated at the same basis in 2023.

Withholding tax was calculated at 5% of the dividends declared in respect
of profits earned by a PRC subsidiary to its intermediate holding company
incorporated in Hong Kong from 1 January 2008 onwards.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss before
income tax expense per the consolidated statement of profit and loss and
other comprehensive income as follows:

12. FIEHAX (&)

T =FZ2HEFE ﬁ%%%ﬁ$¢§
HETERBERAM165% (==
165%) 58 - HRBEFSHRATBEE
AR —EAREEE TH B AT -
MEMBRARMES  H2E8 B T ESR
ot 8 M 32 8.25% K Tl R BT - R T R JE AR
Tl om M IZ165% M B REHF - Z M B A A
MEEBHSHRBEBZRA_T - =F AR
BEEHHE -

BE-ZTN\F-HA—RB BEMRERRP
R B B8 2 B Bk ER 0 g A [R) & B R A L 2
FRER AR EIRB SR S%TE

AEEMEHAX ARG R EME
T o5t 2 P2 BR FT 1S 35 B S A B 1R 3 AR
LU

2023 2022
—E-= = ——
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR%T ARBFT
Profit before income tax expense B B B 5 S A F 27,005 9,520
Tax calculated at the domestic tax rate of 12 B R H K 25%
25% (2022: 25%) (ZE - —F :25%) stEMTIE 6,751 2,380
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries REAM RDERE R E
operating in other jurisdictions LN EPNGITER %EE’J S 583 (4,581)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses TAHMBHZ NG E 181 9,630
Tax effect of non-taxable income EERBIBMANT G2 (77) -
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised HARERRIEBENHETE 2,705
Utilisation of tax losses not recognised AN AERNIEEE - (779)
Income tax PS5 10,143 6,700
As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of temporary differences RZZEZ=FF+_A=+—H BRER

associated with the PRC subsidiaries’ undistributed retained earnings for

BEEFRIBRENTEMMB R EARDIKKRE

which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised is approximately
RMB53,905,000 (2022: RMB18,341,000). No deferred tax liabilities have
been recognised in respect of these differences because the Group is in a
position to control the dividend policies of these subsidiaries and it is
probable that such differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable
future.

BAEENETREEAENAARKE
53905000 7L (ZE = =4 : AR 18,341,000
JL) c AR AEE R IEHIZENB AR
REHE  BZEZN A R RTKA
BEEE MUY ERZEEEERRLEHE
Aafgeo

ERSRBREERERIE —T-=FFRH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BREF
2023 2022
—E-= - ——
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBFT
Profit ¥l
Profit for the purposes of basic and diluted MERERREERAF
earnings per share (profit for the year MmEr&EHN(EAaER A
attributable to owners of the Company) FE AR A& F) 16,926 2,605
2023 2022
—E-= i —
Number of shares g
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for FLat & &I EARZFIFT A 2
the purpose of basic earnings per share L BRI T E 55,125,000 34,629,000
Effect of exercise of share options TEEREZSE
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for Ftat & SR EE R FIATH 2
the purpose of diluted earnings per share g ek Bk - 3,996
55,125,000 34,632,996

On 22 March 2023, the Company completed a capital reorganisation

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

which involved the consolidation of every 50 ordinary share of the
company of HKS$0.1 each into one consolidated share of HKS5 each. For
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the weighted average
number of ordinary share has been adjusted for the effect of the share
consolidation, as if it occurred from 1 January 2022.

The computation of diluted earnings per share was reference to the
closing price of the Company’'s share immediately before the suspension
of trading of the Company’s share.

The diluted loss per share is same as basic loss per share for the year
ended 31 December 2022 as the shares issuable in respect of the
outstanding share options have an anti-dilutive effect on the basic loss per
share.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

RZTZE_=F=A=-+=8B KRAI=K
BAREMR AP RERNATE0RERE
Bo1 BTz EBRAEHMHA—RTIRMAES
BILZEHRD HEZZ-_=FK=F
o+ -AZ+—RHIFE - RN
BEHHERBDEH I FEELRAE
MIMB T —_F—H—BRBEL -

AEEBREEANK2RT EEARRIK
NEFEENARRRD ZHHE -

R A R el R 1T {6 B A A 2 T R AT i
BEREANERBRRETUE BE-F
T A=t -BUEFEzERESE
BiEASREAEEER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

14. DIVIDENDS

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend to
shareholders of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:

Nil).

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. RE

EEgUTEBRNARABRRRERE
F=FF A=+ BLEFEZREK

N

=

o\ —

FE) -

15. Y%  BERRHE

Other
buildings
leased for Furniture,
own use fixtures
carried Leasehold and office Motor
atcost improvements equipment vehicles Total
REAE
RERRH B #£8
HitgT HEXE RBLRE "E ag
RMB000 RMB000 RVB000 RVIB000 RMB000
AREFT  AREFT ARETR AR®TR ARET:
Cost: B
At1 January 2022 WZEZZ6-R—-H 529 1,876 9,859 866 13,130
Additions RE 6,897 - 38 - 6,935
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 34) HEWBAR (M534) (529) (1,876) (9,859) (866) (13,130)
At 31 December 2022 R-E-—F+-F=+-H 6,897 - 38 - 6,935
Addition HE - - 12 - 12
At 31 Decernber 2023 RZBZ=%TZA=+-H 6,897 - 50 - 6,947
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMERAE:
impairment:
At 1 January 2022 W-E--#—A—-H 529 1,876 9,213 866 12,484
Charge for the year FERT 437 - 300 - 737
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 34) LERBAR (M7E34) (529) (1,876) (9,511) (866) (12,782)
At 31 Decernber 2022 RZBZZ§+ZA=+-H 437 - 2 - 439
Charge for the year FERT 1,365 - 15 - 1,380
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=4+ZA=+-8 1,802 - 17 - 1,819
Net carrying amount; RERE:
At 31 December 2023 RZBZ=%F+ZA=+-H 5,095 - 3 - 5,128
At 31 December 2022 RZBZ=%+ZA=+-H 6,460 - 36 - 6,496
ERSHMREERERAR “EC=FER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 15. Y ¥ - BMER&HE (&)

Notes: B 5
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) FEHEEE
Other
buildings
leased for own
use carried at cost
R A5 R
HEBAH
HitigF
RMB'000
AREFT
At 1 January 2022 R-—E-——4—8F—H -
Addition NE 6,897
At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and RZBZZF+=ZA=+—H ZZT==F—A—BK
31 December 2023 ZE-=5+=ZR=+—H 6,897
(b) For the impairment assessment as at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Management of (b) MR- =FKk=_FT=_=F+=-A=+—H
the Group concluded no impairment for furniture, fixtures and office equipment, and RRENENS  AEBEERERSLERRS
right of use asset. REBOERM HBRPAZBUREHESR

B EIRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

16. LOANS AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES 16. ER R EWR

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T ARBFT

Account receivables (Note (a)) FE MR R (BT 7 (a)) 123 529

Other loan receivables (Note (b)) H b e I E 5 (M 3E (b)) 77,817 40,556
77,940 41,085

Less: loss allowance of loans and W BER R ERER R E R

accounts receivables (4,824) (2,634)

73,116 38451

Notes: M aE -

@ Platform services income receivables represent service income charged to the platform (@) BT &R A R T & AP UE R U
users who are obliged to pay service fees to the Group. There is no credit period and A FERAFPARAEEZNREE - BN
customers are obliged to settle the amount according to the terms set out in the B EEER  BEPARKBEES OMHEIE
relevant contracts. FOBEIE -

(b) Other loan receivables represent loans to borrowers including entities at fixed interest (b) HinEWEFIEERA (BEER) IENE
rate approximately 8%. The balance repayable within one year starting from the F o BEFEMELN A - ENEHERERR
commencement date of the loans and unsecured. The amount are guaranteed by the FMAMBT—FANER  BEEF - ZERE
subsidiary controlled by substantial shareholder (2022: unguaranteed). The amounts HEZRRZEFOHMBEARNRHRER(ZF
were fully settled up to the date of this report. ZZFEER) BEABREHE ZEX

AR EBBEN -

Based on the commencement date of the loans as stated in the relevant REARE ORANE KRS B ,HE&EEH&Z
contracts and the service provided date of the amount receivable, the FEMRBREEAY  AEENERLE
ageing analysis of the gross carrying amounts of the Group’s loans and AR BRI EERRER DT

accounts receivables is as follows:

2023 2022

—E-= =
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR®TET
0to 30 days 0&30H 20,699 12,704
31 to 90 days 31F£90H 30,188 28,174
91 to 180 days 91%E180H 27,028 121
Over 180 days 180 B A = 25 86
77,940 41,085

EBSBEBERERAT —B-=E5%H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

16. LOANS AND ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLES

16. EXREWARR (&)

(CONTINUED)
Ageing analysis of the gross carrying amounts of the Group's loans and 7N 5% 1B RO (B 1 1 10 B K % PE WORR R BR
accounts receivables, before impairment allowance, is as follows: BT :
2023 2022
—E-= —F=-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBTTT
Neither past due nor impaired BE 4 280 HA JR oK R B 77,940 40,556
0 to 30 days past due #EHI0E 30 H - 273
31 to 90 days past due #HI31 =90 H - 49
91 to 180 days past due #wEI91 =180 H - 121
Over 180 days past due #HEI180 B A = - 86
77,940 41,085
Impairment losses in respect of loans and accounts receivables are BN R ERERR AR EEEEREEED
recorded using an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that B BIEAREBRATKATEWEZ S
recovery of the amounts is remote, in which case the impairment losses HoRBERTREEEeEERET R
are written off against loans and accounts receivables directly. Based on FE U BR FH e o BRI EHE c EFR R ER
this assessment, the movements in impairment of loans and accounts BEREREEE T -
receivables are as follows:
2023 2022
—E-= =
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T R ARBTTT
Balance at 1 January R—R— B 2,634 79,597
Loss allowance in loans and accounts receivables EERE R X EW R E B
recognised (Note 31) (PFF5E31) 4,824 2,634
Recovery of impairment of loans and accounts L B LA FE 8 3R &) B R K B LR K
receivables previously recognised (Note 31) WA (FFE31) (2,634) -
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 31) HEMT B AR (FFE31) - (79,597)
Balance at 31 December R+-—A=+—B!&EsH 4,824 2,634
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

17.

18.

DEPOSITS PAID, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES

17.

ENEE  BAYRERELAE
WK IR

2023 2022

—EZ=F g
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FTRT AR®TET
Prepayments (Note) FEAS FRIE (P 5E) 3,039 4863
Other receivables Sy E G 5,515 1,197
8,554 6,060

Less: loss allowance on other receivables, W H AR IBEE B R R
in aggregate (992) (214)
Current portion mENE 7,562 5,846
Note: B 5

Prepayment was mainly for marketing expenses.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents represented cash in hand and bank balance. As
at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
denominated in RMB amounting to approximately RMB1,055,000 (2022:
RMB4,832,000), and were kept in the PRC. RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies and the remittance of funds out of the PRC is subject
to exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC government.

18‘

B HAEEAE MM -
RERREEEER

HekReEBEEBEBFERE MRTHE
BoRZEZ=F+=ZA=+—8 4&
EMEekReEEBEEUAREE
DRI BN RE 1055000 (Z 2 ==

AR #4,83200070) WHEERFE - A
RETTERALBAEMEY - AP EH
FE 18 & 78 5 R B BUR B9 EE 5O RR B TR R o

EBSBEBERERAT —B-=E5%H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

19. RECEIPTS IN ADVANCE, ACCRUALS AND OTHER 19. ARARE EERAREME

PAYABLES AND CONTRACT LIABILITIES RREREHNERE
2023 2022
—EBZ=F =~
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®FTRT ARETE
Accruals st &R 3,916 8,750
Other payables (Note) E A FRIE (M) 18,635 15,584
Contract liabilities (Note 21) AHEE (FE21) 470 385
23,021 24,719
Note: As at 31 December 2023, the balance mainly represented the other payables for s : RZZEZ=F+-A=+—8 H&HRFTERE
marketing expense approximately amounting to RMB17,700,000 (2022: RMB6,430,000). 77 2 /9 E b FE S OB 49 A R %5 17,700,000 7T

(ZZ==F : AR¥6430,0007T) °

20. LOAN FROM A DIRECTOR 20. RE—BEBHNNIE
The loan was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand. ZEBERAEERR  RBERIRENREE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

271. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

21. B EE

31 December

31 December

2023 2022
—ZEBZ=F —_=E=-
+=A=+—-8B +=ZA=+-—AH
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®BT R ARBF T
Contract liabilities arising from: INTEEEENEGHAE:
Receipts in advance TEYGRIA 470 385

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract liabilities
are as follows:

A contract liability which arises in respect of the Group's financial
consultancy service and platform service income is recognised as revenue
relating to the general financial advisory services at the time of the services
rendered to the customers.

TEANABESEN RAREFDT

AR ER B 1) B 75 B AR 75 Ko F & RIS WA E
EHR KB ER R PR IR R ER A
— AR A 5 R R BR 75 AR R Ak ©

Movement in contract liabilities EHNEERE
2023 2022
—E-= g
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETRT ARBTIT
Balance as at 1 January R—HA— AW 385 45555
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of ARBERAFRERNFEVEA
recognising revenue during the year that BREBEHRETR D
was included in the contract liabilities at
the beginning of the year (146) (257)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of AHBEREAF B ML N
billing in advance 231 385
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 34) HERB AR (FisEs4) - (4,298)
Balance as at 31 December R+ A=+—BM&EH 470 385
EHRSRREIZERERAR —EC=FFH
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22. LEASES

Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee)
The Group leases a number of properties with a leased period of 5 years as
their offices in the jurisdictions from which it operates. The payment is
fixed throughout the leased period.

The weighted average incremental borrowing rate is 3.15% for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
The carrying amounts of the Group's lease liabilities and the movement

during the year are as follows:

Lease liabilities

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

22. AE

HEEDME (FREMBA)
AEBEEREMENRZERBEEZ A
WE - -HEBMASE REEBRQAE - A

WA IR R EE

BE-_ZT-_=FKR-_ZFT-_-_F+=A
=T HIEFE - MEFEEETFE

£53.15% ©

AEEHEEREREENFANESHIT

HERE

Other buildings
leased for own

use carried

at cost

1 B A 51 Bk

HEBAN

HipgF

RMB'000

ARBFT

At 1 January 2022 RZEZZF—H—H 382

Additions NE 6,897

Interest expense MBS 72

Lease payments HERNR -

Exchange realignment b H SR (382)
At 31 December 2022 and R-_ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H

1 January 2023 —EZ=F—H—H 6,969

Interest expense FELZH 48

Lease payments HERK (1,413)

At 31 December 2023 R-B_=F+-HA=+—H 5,604

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e ERERME (&)
FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 EHE T -_=F+_A=+—HLFE
22. LEASES (CONTINUED) 22, #HE (&)
Nature of leasing activities (in the capacity as lessee) HEESNME (EREEA) (F)
(Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued) HEEE (E)
The present value of future lease payments are analysed as: REBEENFFEDITA
2023 2022
—E-= —E -
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AREF T
Within one year —F R 1,774 1,774
In the second to fifth years inclusive E_FEFNF(BEEEMFE) 3,830 5,195
5,604 6,969
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETET
Current liabilities mENBE 1,774 1,774
Non-current liabilities ERBAE 3,830 5195
5,604 6,969

ERSRBREERERIE —T-=FFRH



128

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 #ZE T =

=FE+ZA=+—HIEFE

23. SHARE CAPITAL 23. B
Number of shares Amount
Epelie ds £
‘000 RMB'000
TR AREFT
Authorised: EIE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 RZEZZ§—H—H8"
and 1 January 2023 ZEZZF+ZA=+—HRK
B =
— Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each —BROIETH L BER 5,000,000 407,450
Share consolidation B in & B (4,900,000) -
Share sub-division 15 o 49,900,000 -
At 31 December 2023, ordinary shares RZE=F+-A=+—H"
of HK$0.01 R0 BT L A& 50,000,000 407,450
Issued and fully paid: BEITREE
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022 RZEZZ§—H—H"
and 1 January 2023 ZEZEFTZA=F+—HE
—T=%—H—H
— Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each — BROIETH L BER 1,731,433 142,004
Share consolidation B tn & B (1,696,804) -
Capital reduction B H R - (141,718)
Issue of new shares BITHR 36,042 325
At 31 December 2023, ordinary shares RZBEZ=F+=Z/A=+—80"
of HK$0.01 FR001BTHE B 70,671 611
Notes: s :
(a) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company implemented the capital (@) BE-_Z-=F+=-A=+—RBLEFE &1

reorganisation (the “Capital Reorganisation”) involving the followings:

(i) every fifty (50) issued and unissued ordinary shares of par value of HK$0.1 each
in the share capital of the Company were consolidated into one (1)
consolidated share of par value of HKS5 each (the “Share Consolidation”)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

23. SHARE CAPITAL

Notes: (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

(ii) immediately following the Share Consolidation, the issued share capital of the
Company will be reduced by (a) rounding down the number of Consolidated
Shares in the issued share capital of the Company to the nearest whole number
by cancelling any fraction of a Consolidated Share in the issued share capital of
the Company; and (b) a reduction of the par value of each issued the
Company's ordinary shares from HK$5 to HK$0.01 per issued ordinary share (the
“Capital Reduction”) which reduction will comprise of a cancellation of such
amount of the paid-up capital on each issued ordinary share and an
extinguishment and reduction of any part of the capital not paid up on any
issued ordinary share so that each existing issued ordinary share will be treated
as one fully paid up share of par value of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of
the Company immediately following the Capital Reduction and the credit
arising from the Capital Reduction will be credited to the contributed surplus
account of the Company within the meaning of the Companies Act and be
applied for such purposes as permitted by all applicable laws and the
memorandum and bye-laws of the Company and as the Board considers
appropriate; and

(iii) immediately following the Capital Reduction, each of the authorised but
unissued Consolidated Shares shall be sub-divided into five hundred (500) New
Shares of par value of HK$0.01 each (the “Share Sub-division”).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has entered into the
subscription agreement with the subscriber — Ms. Niu Chengjun (“Ms. Niu"), to which
the Company agreed to issue, and Ms. Niu agreed to subscribe total of 36,042,067
shares with the subscription price of HK$0.72. The net proceed was approximately
RMB23,552,000.

24. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(a)

Equity-settled share option scheme

On 15 January 2018, options to subscribe for an aggregate of
90,200,000 shares of the Company were granted by the Company
to the existing directors and employees of the Group under the
Share Option Scheme (2018 Scheme”). 10% of share options have
an exercise period from 1 June 2018 to 14 January 2023 (“Share
Option 1), 20% of share options have an exercise period from 1
June 2019 to 14 January 2023 (“Share Option 2"), 30% of share
options have an exercise period from 1 June 2020 to 14 January
2023 (“Share Option 3") and the remaining share options (40%) have
an exercise period from 1 June 2021 to 14 January 2023 (“Share
Option 4"). All share options are subject to the fulfillment of relevant
profit targets by the Group, and share options shall not be vested if
any of the profit targets is failed to meet

23. R&

fEE - (48)

(@)

(&)

(ii) ZRER M AR - ARBTBEHITRAM
BATARHR : @FBBFHARFLD
BITBEATE G 2 ERZHED
BARRBHITRAT ARG ZEA
THEREEZEE: ROBARF
BERERHTEARZEEHSRSET
HIm =SB 001 BT ([ARAHBIRD @ 3%
HUBK BREEHSRO BT EBRZE
REAZE - ARFHERAIRERD %
TEm 2 ER AR RRAR S - Bl
SZRERAHIRE BRRBECETER
RS AR AR R B IR A R B AR E (E 0.01
B2 BRI - MARAHIRE £ 2
R LARREMAEZARREHE
#HiR - YARMBBEREMRARAE
TR AR P AR AR EE R R RE
BZRE R

(i) EBERAHDRR  SEROEEMREITH
&GO IR R T A (500 R EFRE
E001 BTa I IRG (TRRA AL -

HE-_Z-_=—F+-_A=+—HALFE AR
AEEREHFEREL LT ((F2E]) ] LR
W BUARRIRERT  MALLtRER
RIBE 72T RIES 36,042,067 B9  FT
BRUEFEEO A R 23,552,000 7T °

24 DIESEERO/ER 2

(a)

EBERREZERERAT

EREEERESS
RZZE—N\F—A+HH AAF
RIFEREFSNAEERBEES
EEBERTLBRE AJAERBER
A 790,200,000 % B 10 ([ = — \F
STEI]) o H o 109% B A% #E 8 1T 15 HR
BZ_E-N\FAA—BE-ZT=_=
F—A+HA ([BEREL - 20%8E
RAENTERAE T —NFNA—
BE-Z-_=F—AF+MA ([EEK
RN - 30%ERENITFEBHAE
—EFANA—BE_ZE=-_=F—A
T ((EEEN] - Mt T ER
TE @) ITER AT -—F <A
—BAE_ZT-_=F—A+HB(E
BRIENV]) - EBREAGTAEER
EXNEERTBZE®AIIEE W
KREEERBBAATBZ  BRET
BFURE -

—E-=EER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

24. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(a) Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)
Details of the specific categories of options are as follows:

Date of grant

RHBH

Vesting date
BEAH

Exercise period

T

24 LESEERODA/ER ZHRK

(&)
(a)

Exercise price
TEE

HKS

BT

EaEEBRES (&)
FEBERIBREFBDT

Vesting conditions

BEKAE

Share Option 1
BRE

15 January 2018
—TN\E
—A+AA

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

1 June 2018 to
14 January 2023
—E-)N\F
NA-RZE
—T_=F
—R+mA

31 May 2018
ZE-N\E
TA=1+—H

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

0.842

Profit after income tax (but before share-based
payment expenses) according to the audited
consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December
2017

—  Equal to or more than RMB100 million,
100% of Share Option 4 shall be
vested;

—  Equal to or more than RMB80 million
but less than RMB100 million, 50% of
Share Option 4 shall be vested; and

— Less than RMB80 million, no Share
Option 4 shall be vested.

REXRABE-_S-—tF+-A
ST-HUEFENEEREAMBRE
BATSH (EARMBRBN A ) &
Gl

—  HAERISARAREI0EET
AIESBEREV & 100% :

—  HERIZRAREOEETE
PRARBI0GETL HIERE
SBERAE IV A50% R

— DRARENBERL HBAER
BRERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

24. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 4. LESAEROBER N
(CONTINUED) (#&)
(@) Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) (a) EEEEBRES (E)
Date of grant Vesting date Exercise period Exercise price  Vesting conditions
REAH BEAH e TRE BEKH
HKS
BT
Share Option 2 15 January 2018 31 May 2019 1 June 2019to 0842 Profit after income tax (but before share-based
BRI —E-N\F ZE-NE 14 January 2023 payment expenses) according to the audited
—A+AA AA=+—H ZB-N%E consolidated financial statements of the
NRE—HZE Company for the year ended 31 December
s 2018
—RA+mA

— Equal to or more than RMB150 million,
100% of Share Option 5 shall be
vested;

—  Equal to or more than RMB100 million
but less than RMB150 million, 50% of
Share Option 5 shall be vested; and

— Less than RMB100 million, no Share
Option 5 shall be vested.

BEARABZE-_ZE-N\E+=A
ST-BAULFENEEREAPERE
BRAEHR (BERMBROMZAL) BE
#l

—  HERIZRAREISNEET
QB BRBIREVHI100% :

—  HERIZRAREI0EELE
PIARBISOEET  HIBERE
BREVE 0% K

—  ORARBI0EET BHBES
BEREY-

EBSBEBERERAT —B-=E5%H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

24. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(a) Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

Date of grant
Rit A4

Exercise period

T

Vesting date
EEAH

24 LESEERODA/ER ZHRK

(&)
(a)

Exercise price
THfE

HKS

BT

EaEEBRES (&)

Vesting conditions

BE&AG

Share Option 3
B

15 January 2018
ZT-N\E
—At+ER

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

1 June 2020 to
14 January 2023
ZT-FE
NRE—HZE
—TZ=%F
—A+EA

31 May 2020
—T-%F
TA=1+—-8

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

0.842

Profit after income tax (but before share-based
payment expenses) according to the audited
consolidated financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 31 December
2019

— Equal to or more than RMB200 million,
100% of Share Option 6 shall be
vested;

—  Equal to or more than RMB150 million
but less than RMB200 million, 50% of
Share Option 6 shall be vested; and

— Less than RMB150 million, no Share
Option 6 shall be vested.

REXADABE-ZT-—NLF+=A
ZH-RLEFENEEREANBRE
B PG 0 (IR0 BR B 1 30 B S0) 18
#

—  HERIZRAREN0HET
BI7B 55 B B AR E VI 69 100% :

—  HEERIZRAREISOBEELR
PIARB200EET  HIERE
FERREVI 89500 ¢ I

—  ORARBISEERT BHBER
BEREV -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

24. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(a) Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued)

24. t;g%ﬁﬁ%ﬂiﬁ%%ﬁZﬁ%ﬁ

(a) EBELHBERES (F)

Date of grant Vesting date Exercise period Exercise price  Vesting conditions
Rit A H BEAH TEH TEE BERKE
HKS
BT
Share Option 4 15 January 2018 31 May 2021 1 June 2021 to 0842 Profit after income tax (but before share-based
EREN —E-N\F —E-—F 14 January 2023 payment expenses) according to the audited
—A+AA AA=+—H8 ZB=—-% consolidated financial statements of the
NA—HAZE Company for the year ending 31 December
“Z-=F 2020
—RA+mA

— Equal to or more than RMB250 million,
100% of Share Option 7 shall be
vested;

—  Equal to or more than RMB200 million
but less than RMB250 million, 50% of
Share Option 7 shall be vested; and

— Less than RMB200 million, no Share
Option 7 shall be vested.

BEARABZE-_ZE-_EE+-A
ST-BAULFENEEREAPERE
BRAEHR (BERMBROMZAL) BE
#l

—  HERISZRARESEET
BB B REARAE VI 69 100% :

—  AERISRARE00EELE
PIARB0EET  HIERE
BERREEVI B950% ¢ Jo

—  ORARE00EET BIHBES
BEREVI-

EBSBEBERERAT —B-=E5%H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

24. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

(CONTINUED)

(a) Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) (a)
Set out below are details of movements of the outstanding options
granted under the Share Option Scheme during the years ended 31

24 LESEERODA/ER ZHRK

(&)

EREEERESE (E)
TEHNBEE-_ZE-_=&FEK_-F
TTHFE+-A=+—HIFERE

December 2023 and 2022: B B D M AR AR
B BB RIS -
Number of share options
BREHE
Outstanding
asat
QOutstanding 31 December Outstanding
asat Grant Exercised lapsed  2022and Grant  Exercised Lapsed asat
Bxercise 1 January during during duing  1January during during during 31 December
price 202 the year the year the year* 2023 the year theyear  theyear* 2023
R
B
+=F S
R =t-BR - Skt
Z3ICf “ECEE =R
~A-R -A-8 =t-8
TRE  HALR  FARE  FROR  FREART HATR  FARM  ERTE  ERARr HAGE
2018Scheme  =F-\F5HE
Directors g3 HKSO84278TT 1,040,000 - - - 1,040,000 - - (1040000) -
Employees B8 HKS0842/B7C 2060000 - - - 2,060,000 - - (2060000 -
Total @it 3,100000 - - - 3,100,000 - - (300000) -

*

Lapsed share options were resulted from (i) the resignation of employees; (i) a

failure by the employees to satisfy the vesting conditions for the respective

years; and (iii) expiry of the exercise period of the options.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

HhEEER  WRERERFENS
BB AR ¢ e (i) B S 7T 4R H3 B W B
BRI -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

24. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS 4. LESAEROBER MR

(CONTINUED) (#&)

(@) Equity-settled share option scheme (Continued) (a) EREEBRES (E)
Share options and weighted average exercise price are as follows WMEBAREARE R INETETE
for the reporting periods presented: BE3WT :

2023 2022
—E-= “E-F
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise exercise
Number price Number price
hREEE T
E 2 TfEE 2B 1R (E
HK$ HKS
BT BT
Outstanding at 1 January R—RA—BHERTE 3,100,000 0.842 3,100,000 0842
Lapsed B R (3,100,000) 0.842 - -
Outstanding at 31 December R+ZA=+—BHRIE - - 3,100,000 0842
Exercisable at the end of the year WA K A[ 471 - - 3,100,000 0842
All outstanding options of 3,100,000 shares were lapsed during the HE_Z-_=F+=-H=+—H1
year ended 31 December 2023. FIE - 53,100,000 B RE 15 B AT A R
TEBRECAKRY -
As at 31 December 2022, the options outstanding at the end of the R-E-_—F+-_A=+—H F
year have a weighted average remaining contractual life of 0.1 year R I R T 168 AR RE A N A TS R B4
and the exercise price of HK$0.842. BHERABONF  1THEE RSB
5T o

EBSBEBERERAT —B-=E5%H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

25. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 25. XD B B ARR &R
COMPANY
2023 2022
—E-=F g
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR® T ARETF T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RHT B R AR E 1 1
Amounts due from subsidiaries JE U B B~ B FR B 9,238 9,088
9,239 9,089
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments and other receivables B A< R IE B A E R IE 973 321
Cash and cash equivalents ReE B SEBEEE 15,505 80
16,478 401
Current liabilities REBEE
Accruals and other payables FESTE R N H b S 508 9,461 9,829
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEBT B A Rl 18 2,754 2,706
12,215 12,535
Net current assets/(liabilities) REBEE (BE) FHE 4,263 (12,134)
Total assets less current liabilities EEBERABERE 13,502 (3,045)
NET ASSETS/(LIABILITIES) BE (BB FE 13,502 (3,045)
EQUITY =
Share capital N 23 611 142,004
Reserves {1 26(b) 12,891 (145,049)
TOTAL EQUITY DA 13,502 (3,045)

On behalf of the Board of directors

RREFS

Liu Yi
213

Executive Director

HITEF

ANNUAL REPORT 2023  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

26. RESERVES

(a)

26. &
Group (a) &K
Details of the movements on the Group's reserve are as set out in AEBREBEHNFBEIARGE R
the consolidated statement of changes in equity. mEBK o
(b) Company (b) &AF
Share
Share Exchange option Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
R E EifiE BRERE RitEB ok
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETE ARETT ARETT ARETR
At 1 January 2022 R-Z-—F—f—A 217853 15,505 1067 (425,631) (191.206)
Profit for the year ERET - - - 53,896 5389%
Exchange difference translating BIEBHRENER
foreign operation =% - (7,739) - - (7,739)
Total comprehensive income FEXANEESR
for the year - (7,739) - 53,89 46,157
At 31 December 2022 and i ——s
1 January 2023 +ZA=+-Ak
—E-=F—Af—H 217,853 7,766 1,067 (371,735) (145,049
Loss for the year FEBA - - - (6,944) (6,944)
Exchange difference translating BIEBHRENER
foreign operation = - (61) - - (61)
Total comprehensive expense FEXEMAXBE
for the year - (61) - (6,944) (7,005)
Lapse of share options BRERY - - (1,067) 1,067 -
Capital reduction BRAHIR, - - - 141,718 141,718
Issue of new shares BITHTR 23,227 - - - 23,227
At 31 December 2023 R_Z_=F
TZA=1+—-H 241,080 7,705 - (235,894) 12,891

EBSBEBERERAT —B-=E5%H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

26. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

(c)

Nature and purpose of reserves

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Share premium

Share premium account of the Company and Group
represents the excess of the proceeds received over the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued.

Merger reserve

Merger reserve of the Group arose as a result of the
Reorganisation and represents the difference between the
nominal value of the registered capital and capital reserve of
Guangdong Huijin and the nominal value of the shares of the
Company issued pursuant to the Reorganisation.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, the
Company's subsidiaries registered in the PRC are required to
appropriate 10% of the annual statutory profit after tax (after
offsetting any prior years' losses) determined in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles in the PRC to
the statutory reserve until the balance of the reserve fund
reaches 50% of the entity’s registered capital. The statutory
reserve can be utilized to offset prior years’ losses or to
increase capital, provided the remaining balance of the
statutory reserve is not less than 25% of registered capital.

Exchange reserve
Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations.

Share option reserve

Share option reserve represents the cumulative expenses
recognised on the granting of share options to the directors,
employees and advisors over the vesting period.

Retained earnings/(accumulated losses)

The amount represents accumulative net gains and losses
recognised in profit or loss.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

26. f#E (1B

(c) f#fE
0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

)

HWHERAR

& 42 518

AR R AR BB 4 B AR
BEMAEFRBEBEARRFD
BT EENEE -

aotREE
AEENAHFEBRERNE
o EERESIMERARE
AEEOHERAARREE
MBETHRNEE RN E
B o

EERE

RIBFBERRE - AAR R
B o I A BT B 2 B 78 2 10%
BIEFE ARG RAETE
FEETERBE M (kR
TMBAEFEEBIE) XM
B EEREBLAEBREIZRE
BB ARS0% AL < AT
HEAANEEBTFEES
SAREE - HEERENR
BB LREME AR 25% o

EREE
PE X BB RSB RRIEINE
BMEFMELNPIAELZ5

BRERSE
BhEREEENRBHRAE
= EEREERELOBRER
R REtFAX -

REBF(RFTERE)
ZBRIE R B R RET I
N B RFEE



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

27. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

27. B R AFHE

TEMBARNFBIMT :

Description of
fully paid up
Place of share capital/ Percentage of
incorporation/ registered ownership interest's/
Name establishment Place of operation and principal activities capital held voting rights/profit share
FRERY
ARAL/ BRRE/ fiERRE/
£ RUBY BEHARTERR gMExEE  REE/AEIEEAM
2023 2022
ZE-zF —Z-CF
Limited liability company
ERERALH
Shenzhen Huidun Technology Company Ltd. The PRC* Provision of financial consultation services in the PRC RMB20,000,000 9%% 9%
AITEERRARAT e EpEREBER RS AR 200000007
Zhuhai Hulian Zhitou Technology The PRC® Provision of financial consultation services in the PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100%
Service Limited
KEERERMEREERAR miEe A RS R R AR E 100000007
AITERRREARAA The PRC Provision of financial consultation services in the PRC RMB20,000,000 100% 100%
AITERRRRARLRA el P EREAHERRE AR 200000007

Except Profit Success, all other subsidiaries are indirectly held by the Company.

i The Company is a wholly domestic owned enterprises.
@ This Company is a wholly foreign owned enterprise.

(Note) The subsidiaries are disposed during the year ended 31 December 2022.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or
formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

* [ Profit Success &1 + BT A E L ff & A 5139 A 7%
ARIBERE -

‘ FZRABERNERLEDRE -
@ FZABRINEBELLEDE -

(WD) RSN BAARRE T~ +-A=+—
BILE I -

EERR LR ARBINERBLE A
SEAFEXEAEAFESHAEEE
EFEZEAHND EFER/MIIHE
B ARZER  HERBBNITE -

ERSRBREERERIE —T-=FFRH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023 HE—_ZE-_=F+_A=+—HUIFE

28.

29. NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 29. FERETREBRME
FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transactions (@) EXRFBRERSH
The Group had no material non-cash transaction during the year HE-_ZT-=F+=ZA=+—8H1
ended 31 December 2023. FE AEBEUEERFREIH
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group had non-cash REZE-_ZE_—_F+-_HA=+—H
addition to right-of- use assets and lease liabilities of approximately EFE XEBERBAENHER
RMB6,897,000, in respect of the lease arrangement of the office. MRS AREEREEREIF
BN AR 6,897,000 7T °
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) MEETBHFEENEEZHE
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from THRAWAEBAERMEETHES
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. WEEZY RiEReRIFRE
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which BomEFIMEENEBRZBE
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's ERARRBREMERAEEREE
consolidated statement of cash flows from financing activities. FEBemMERAR -
Loan from Total liabilities
directors  Lease liabilities from financing
(Note 20) (Note 22) activities
REESZER HESE RETHREL
(BfzE20) (BiaEF22) HEEEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTR AR T
At 1 January 2023 RZZZ=%—HA—H 1,536 6,969 8,505
Other changes: Hin &g -
Effective interest expense ERAERZ - 48 48
Financing cash outflow BMERERH - (1,413) (1,413)
Total other changes Hith &8585 - (1,365) (1,365)
At 31 December 2023 RZT_=F
+ZA=+— 1,536 5,604 7,140
ANNUAL REPORT 2023 Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURE

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the
Group does not have other material related party transactions during the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Compensation of key management personnel
The emoluments of directors who are also identified as members of key
management of the Group during the year are set out in Note 11(a).

28. BEFEE

o)

MBREREME D

P ER S

INE

EREE-—_E-_=Fr_T-__F+_-A
—t+t—HALFEVEEMEREEIRS °

TEEERAEZHE

RAFE  TERARETE

BERENKE

MESHNMEHENMHE 160




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B BHRRHE ()

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

29. NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH 29. FEREREBERNE ()
FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (b) MEEFBMEENEGZY
activities (Continued) iR (&)
Loan from Total liabilities
directors Bank  Lease liabilities  from financing
(Note 20) borrowings (Note 22) activities
REES MEEE
ZER HEBE FTE%H
(Pt 3E20) RITIER (3% 22) BREH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TT AR®TT ARBFT ARBFT
At 1 January 2022 RZE-—F—A—H 2,862 2,705 382 5,949
Changes from cash flows: & RE%
Advance from adirector ~ — % i%ﬁm 1471 - - 1471
Repaymenttoadirector — [A—HEHEN (2993) - - (2993)
Interest paid ERFLE - - - -
Total changes from MERCREZHLE
financing cash flows (1,522) - - (1522)
Other changes: Hin &g
Effective interest expense BB FI B F - - 72 72
Exchange adjustments ME 5 AR 196 - - 196
Additions of leases HEEM - - 6,897 6,897
Disposal of subsidiaries & KB 2 A] (T FE34)
(Note 34) - (2,705) (382) (3,087)
Total other changes Hith g a5 196 (2,705) 6,587 4,078
At 31 December 2022 RZZE——F
+=ZA=+—~H 1536 - 6,969 8,505
EHeBBREERERAT —ZT-=FFRK
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

30. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL 30. B ERIZE o WL MEERS R
EEME

LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as

at the reporting date are as follows:

SRR TANKS EMERERAT

2023 2022
—EC-=F —E-CfF
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
REE NFEE REE NEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR AR¥TR ARETr ARETR
Financial assets CREE
Financial assets at amortised cost RRERAGTECERMEE
— Loans and accounts receivables — B R EBEER 73,116 73,116 38451 38451
— Other receivables — E A U FRIE 4,523 4,523 983 983
— Cash and cash equivalents —RehBESEER 16,561 16,561 4912 4912
Financial liabilities cREE
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost X B KA E2 2 RAE
— Accruals and other payables — B ERREMEMNFRE 18,635 18,635 15,584 15,584
— Loan from directors —REEZZER 1,536 1,536 1536 1,536

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B |RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 31. I EKRER

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise loans and accounts
receivables, deposits and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents,
accruals and other payables and loan from a director. These financial
instruments mainly arise from its operations.

The carrying amounts of the Group's financial instruments approximated
their fair values as at the reporting date. Fair value estimates are made at a
specific point in time and based on relevant market information on the
financial instruments.

These estimates are subjective in nature and involve uncertainties and
matters of significant judgment, and therefore cannot be determined with
precision. Changes in assumptions could significantly affect the estimates.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments are interest
rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. As the Group's
exposure to these risks is kept to a minimum, the Group has not used any
derivatives and other instruments for hedging purposes. The Group does
not hold or issue any derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
The board of directors of the Company reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.

AEENTESRTABEERREKRE
R BERHEMRKFE REEREE
BHEA  EERREMENFRELKA
—REFZEN - ZFERMITATERE
REBEZE -

REEEH  AEESRTANKEER
HRAFERSE - R FEMGTIREERE
RSB TANBBENSEREL -

BEHHELTREEER SRTRE
AEREALSEE - TR
it o BROBEATEREL GRS
ox

KEaAEELRTANTIZRE AN EE
g NERR - FERREABESR
% o HNAKE Ll BB ERE &
SR B A AE AR TR OTAE R H A T R AR
RS AEEWEFERBITTAITE
THMTAEEERS - ARREFTERS
WREERE LS RBREE - Wl
To

ERSRBREERERIE —T-=FFRH
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk means the risk on the fluctuation of fair value or future
cash flows of financial instruments which arise from changes in interest
rates. Floating interest rate instruments will result in the Group facing the
risk of changes in market interest rate.

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank
balance. In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unpresented
as the risk consider to be insignificant. The Group currently does not have
a policy on cash flow hedges of interest rate risk. However, the
management monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposure should the need arise. The interest
bearing bank borrowing and lease liability bear floating interest rates and
are denominated in RMB.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure
to interest rates for variable-rate bank borrowing. The analysis is prepared
assuming that the amount of assets and liabilities outstanding at the end
of each of the reporting periods were outstanding for the whole year. 100
basis points increase or decrease represents management’s assessment of
the reasonably possible change in the interest rates of borrowing.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of
the inherent interest rate risk as the exposures at the end of the reporting
periods do not reflect the exposures during the years.

Foreign currency risk

As the Group's revenue and expenses are mainly in RMB which is the
functional currency of most of the entities making up the Group, the
currency risk resulting from the Group's daily operations is considered not
significant. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, management monitors foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 31. I RAKRERE (&)

Credit risk
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit
risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its cash and cash
equivalents (Note 18), loans and accounts receivables (Note 16), and other
receivables (Note 17). Management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of loans and accounts receivables and other receivables, the
Group's policy is that all borrowers who wish to obtain loans from the
Group are subject to management review. The Group holds collaterals
directly or indirectly to cover its risks associated with loans receivable.

All collaterals of loans and accounts receivables and other receivables, if
any, are held directly by the Group.

For loan and accounts receivable, individual credit evaluations are
performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. These
evaluations focus on the customers’ past history of making payments
when due and current ability to pay, and take into account information
specific to the customers as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the customers operate. Normally, the Group does
not obtain collaterals from customers on accounts receivable.
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group's exposure to credit risk is
influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The
default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate also
has an influence on credit risk but to a lesser extent. As at 31 December
2023 and 2022, the outstanding loans and accounts receivable are
unsecured.

The credit risk of the Group's other financial assets, which mainly comprise
of cash and cash equivalents and loan and other receivables arises from
potential default of the counterparties, with a maximum exposure equal
to the carrying amounts of these instruments. Credit risk in cash and cash
equivalents and restricted cash is mitigated as cash is deposited in banks
with high credit rating.

The Group measures loss allowances for accounts receivable at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the
Group's historical credit loss experience does not indicate significantly
different loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished between the Group's
different customer bases.
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 31. MERERERE (&)
Credit risk (Continued) EERE (&)
The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to TR —_E-_=FR_FE__F+_-A
credit risk and ECLs for accounts receivable as at 31 December 2023 and =T —HAXRSEEENEKEREERR
2022: LIEHEEBRER
Gross
carrying
amount Average Net carrying
brought expected Loss amount after
forward loss rate allowance  impairment
A PHRE BEE
As at 31 December 2023 R-ZBZ=5+ZA=+-H BEREE BEZX BRESF REFE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR % ARBTR AR%Tx
Current (not past due) B3 (R HR) - - - -
0-30 days past due BWH0E30H - - - -
31-90 days past due B3I E0H - - - -
-180 days past due #H9IE180H 99 1.0 1 98
Over 180 days past due #1180 B L 24 125 3 21
123 4 119
Gross
carrying
amount Average Net carrying
brought expected Loss  amount after
forward loss rate allowance  impairment
HRl THTEE A%
As at 31 December 2022 R_E__%+-A=+—H BEREE BEX  BEEE REFE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBETT % AREFT ARETFR
Current (not past due) ENER (K@) - - - -
0-30 days past due BHOZE30H 273 03 1 272
31-90 days past due B3I ENH 49 20 1 48
180 days past due B =180 H 121 08 1 120
Over 180 days past due BH180 B L 86 8.1 7 79
529 10 519

Expected loss rates are based on actual loss experience over one year.
These rates are adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic data has been
collected, current conditions and the Group's view of economic conditions
over the expected lives of the receivables.

BHEERXIRE-FNEREBRERS
c RFEHLETERHE AR EBE
SRR EAA R - B BIAIA R AR
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group has adopted the general expected credit loss model for

material financial assets in relation to loans and other receivables. A

summary of the assumptions underpinning the Group's expected credit

loss model is as follows:

31. IR ERE (&)

EE =Rk (&)
AEEREER I EMEETIEFENE
REMEERMN —RBHEEBHEERN
XEASEEREEEERAZRRME
LN

Basis for recognition of expected credit loss

Category Company definition of category provision
Ehl ARHBENESR RAFEEERAENRIEE
Performing Customers have a low risk of default and a strong 12-month expected losses. Where the expected
capacity to meet contractual cash flows lifetime of an asset is less than 12 months, expected
losses are measured at its expected lifetime.
E# BEFENRRE BEMRENREREFT NRMEAARHEE HEENTEHER DRI

Underperforming

Non-performing

SKEVRE 7158

Loans and other receivables for which there is a
significant increase in credit risk as significant
increase in credit risk is presumed if interest and/
or principal repayments/other receivables are 30
days past due

HF S &K EEERSH it fE WK
B30 R AIBREEERBRBAEEMN E
W E T H Ath & R TR 6915 B A B 1t K
& 45 1N

Interest and/or principal repayments/other
receivables are 90 days past due

TR FE R/ REEERS HibEKKRER
Hjo0 H

Write-off Interest and/or principal repayments/other
receivables are 180 days past due and there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery

85 FIB KR/ REEERS A EUGRTAS
#1180 A HEW B A IETEH

ANNUAL REPORT 2023  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group accounts for the above items’ credit risk by appropriately
providing for expected credit losses on a timely basis. In calculating the
expected credit loss rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each
category of customers/investments, and adjusts for forward- looking
macroeconomic data. The Group provides for credit losses against loans
and other receivables as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

As at 31 December 2023:

31. IR RERE (&)

EERK (&)
REFEBRBLREREHEZEHEBELEE
BEZELLAEEMNEERR - RiTEE
%Ef%%$%'$%l%%§ﬁ§
ﬁ/&ﬁ%ﬂ&%%w I &t ¥ B bE 1 R
BICESIBETAE AEER T ==
FRZFZIZF+ A=+ —HHRERK
HE R EEEREEBBES RN T

R-BE-_=%+=-HA=+-—-8":

Carrying
Average  Basis for Estimated amount
Expected  recognition of gross (netof  Basis for
Company internal  External credit  expected credit carrying impairment  calculation of
credit rating credit rating lossrate  loss provision amount  provision) interest revenue
¥ fREE
HBEE BHEE REGEEERAE fEst  (MBRHEE
NARBEETR TR BEE NRIEE BEEE BB HEANEKENEE
RMB’000  RMB’000
% ARBTRT ARETR
Performing N/A 6.90  12-month expected losses 84,335 78,525  Gross carrying amount
E% TER 1218 A ASER BIREE
Underperforming N/A N/A  Lifetime expected losses - - Gross carrying amount
) TER TER FRABEDER BIREE
Non-performing N/A - Lifetime expected losses - - Gross carrying amount
TR TER FRABDER BEHEE
Total loans and other
receivables
ERKRHEMERSE
BE 84,335 78,525

ERSRBREZERERAT —T=

=EEH
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)
As at 31 December 2022:

31. I ERERE (&)

EERK (&)
RZFEZZF+=ZH=+—8":

Carrying
Average  Basis for Estimated amount
Expected  recognition of gross (netof  Basis for
Company internal External credit  expected credit carrying  impairment  calculation of
credit rating creditrating lossrate  loss provision amount provision)  interest revenue
1 FEE
BEE BHEE REEEBEREE fhat (HBRE
RAINBEETR TR BEX ORIRE BERmE BB SENBREMHEE
RMB'000 RMB'000
% AREFT ARETT
Performing N/A 6.79  12-month expected losses 41,753 38915 Gross carrying amount
E% TEA 121 AT HER BEHEE
Underperforming N/A N/A  Lifetime expected losses - - Gross carrying amount
2bas TEA TER ERARHER BEREE
Non-performing N/A 100 Lifetime expected losses - - Gross carrying amount
TR TEA FRAEHER BERmEE
Total loans and other
receivables
ERRHMERTE
nE 41753 38915

No significant changes to estimation techniques or assumptions were

made during the reporting period.
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 31. MERERERE (&)
Credit risk (Continued) EERE (&)
The closing loss allowance for loans and other receivables as at 31 ERREMERRER T _=ZFR_F
December 2023 and 2022 reconciles to the opening loss allowance for T+ A=+ —HENHBREERER
that provision, and the gross carrying amounts are as follows: HyBEREcHEREEREmMENT -
Under- Non-
Performing performing performing Total
As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=5+-A=1+-H EE Hix TR gt

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR AR%®TR ARBTR AR®BTR

Gross carrying amount for loans and other “E-=F+-A=t—HBER

receivables as at 31 December 2023 REMERFBEEEE 84,335 - - 84,335
Less: Expected credit losses: A BEEEEE !
Opening balance as at 1 January 2023 ZE=F-A-HETER 2,838 - - 2,838
— Loss allowance provided for the year —FREERE 2,972 - - 2,972
Closing loss allowance as at 31 December 2023 —E =%+ A=+—H

MRERRE 5,810 - - 5,810

Net carrying amount for loans and other ZEZ=FFTZA=F+—HER

receivables as at 31 December 2023 REMERFEREDFE 78,525 - - 78,525

EBSBEBERERAT —B-=E5%H
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 31. BEAKRERE (&)
Credit risk (Continued) EERK (&)
Under- Non-
Performing performing performing Total
As at 31 December 2022 R-E-=f+=-F=+—-H e bz =} et
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000

ARETT ARETRT ARETRT ARETRT
Gross carrying amount for loans and other RZE-—F+-A=+—HBHK

receivables as at 31 December 2022 B REMERFRBRERE 41,753 - - 41,753
Less: Expected credit losses: A REREEES !
Opening balance as at 1 January 2022 RZEZZF—HA—HH
B - 1,087 67,902 68989
— Loss allowance provided for the year —FNEBERE 2838 - - 2,838
— Recovery of impairment of other receivables — 4 [B] £ [ U 2 8 R B - (471) - @)
— Transfer: — &%
Disposal through disposal of subsidiaries LALERBRAMmDE - (616) (67,902) (68518)
Closing loss allowance as at 31 December 2022 R-ZE-—F+-A=+—HH
HREERE 2,838 - - 2838
Net carrying amount for loans and other RZE-ZZF+-A=+—HH
receivables as at 31 December 2022 EXRkEMERZEEEDFE 38915 - - 38915
Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of loans and accounts F N E B E TR FE YR FRA K B A JE U 5K
receivables and other receivables during the year is as follows: TR EIEREEEmT
2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AREBTT
Balance at 1 January R—A—BmEH 2,848 80,068
Loss allowance recognised during the year FANDEREBREE 2,972 2,848
Recovery of impairment of loans and accounts LA B LA 1F i 3R &) B 3R R JE AR K
receivables and other receivables previously R E b FE YR IB R B
recognised (2,848) 471)
Disposal through subsidiaries KRB RRHE - (79,597)
Balance at 31 December RTZA=+—Hr#&#% 2,972 2,848

ANNUAL REPORT 2023  Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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31. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 31. MERERERE (&)
Liquidity risk REBEERER
Management of the Group monitors current and expected liquidity AEBEEEERERLERARDEST
requirements to ensure that the Group maintains sufficient reserves of o URBRASEREARRAA#IFR
cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term. EHREREENENERBEST K-
The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as at the reporting BRAEDRMB A ROELE  NEBRR
date, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, are as follows: HEEHNeRBEIHBERNT
Total
contractual
Carrying undiscounted  Repayable Within Within ~ More than
amount cashflow  ondemand Tyear  2to5years 5years
EHRER

REE ReREAE BRERRE  R-FR RCEDFR BFNE
RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000 RMBI000
ARETL  ARETR AR®TR ARETT ARETRL ARETR

At 31 December 2023 R-E-=%+-A=+-H

Other payables EtERFE 18,635 18,635 18,635 - - -

Loan from director REEEZER 1,536 1,536 1,536 - - -

Lease liabilities HEEE 5,604 5,794 - 1,824 3,970 -
25,775 25,965 20,171 1,824 3,970 -

At 31 December 2022 RZZ--E+-fA=+-H

Other payables EifEMFR 15,584 15,584 15,584 - - -

Loan from directors REEZZER 1536 1536 1536 - - -

Lease liabilities HEEE 6969 7348 - 1874 5474 -
24089 24468 17120 1874 5474 -

EBSBEBERERAT —B-=E5%H
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32. FAIRVALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Fair value
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments
and carried at amortised costs:

Management has assessed that the fair values of the financial assets and
liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's risk control team is responsible for determining the policies
and procedures for the fair value measurement of financial instruments.
The risk control team reports directly to the chief financial officer and the
audit committee. At each reporting date, the risk control team analyses
the movements in the values of financial instruments and determines the
major inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by the chief financial officer. The valuation process and results
are discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets are included at the amount at which
the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between
willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

The fair value of equity instruments and debt securities have been
estimated using a discounted cash flow valuation model or guideline
public company marketability model based on assumptions that are not
supported by observable market price or rates. The valuation requires the
directors to make estimates about the expected future cash flows
including expected proceeds on subsequent disposal of the debt
securities.

The directors believe that the estimated fair value of the equity
instruments and debt securities based on valuation technique, and the
related change in fair value, reasonable, and represents the most
appropriate value at end of the reporting period.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

33. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 33. EXEREE

The Group's capital management objectives include: AEEHNEAERBREOE

() to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so () REREEAFBELEHED B
that it continues to provide returns for owner's benefits for other BELRHEE ANRBEORIL A
stakeholders; @B ABERE

(i) tosupport the Group's stability and growth; and (i ZBAEENOEERER: R

(i to provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Group's risk (i) RWEBEAAMERNEENRREIE
management capability. BN o

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure AREEBRBWEHERNMNEREHLE AR

to ensure optimal capital structure and shareholder’s returns, taking into B URRENSREENEREBEMR

consideration the future capital requirements of the Group and capital BREEHERR  EREERAEEN

efficiency, prevailing and projected profitability, projected operating cash RIREARFRREAR KN & A RET R

flows, projected capital expenditures and projected strategic investment NIER - KEBRSREER - EXAFXTE

opportunities. BIRTEHAR IR B S -

EBSBEBERERAT —B-=E5%H
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

(@ On 29 June 2022, the Group completed the very substantial disposal
to dispose of certain subsidiaries of the Group (the “First Disposal”).
Please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 26
January 2022, 18 February 2022, 1 June 2022 and 29 June 2022 and
the circular of the Company dated 10 May 2022 in relation to the
First Disposal. The net assets of the subsidiaries at the completion
date of the First Disposal were as follow:

34. HEKWE QT

(@)

RZFEZZFANAZTNALA K&
BTk IEFTEALEEIE LOE
AEEETHEAR(E—AEE
£H]) - @2HARABEHEAE =T
T ZF—AZ+RB-ZZT=_=

“At+N\B - -_—_FxXA—H
TECCEXRNATAENRE
LWEASMA-—_S-_—FHATHHN
WK NABBEE-—RAHEEIE-
MBARNE - RHEEEENXAR

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

HMEEFEET
RMB’000
AR¥T
Consideration RE
Cash received BUWIRE 12,828
12,828
Analysis of assets and liabilities as at the date of disposal: RHEAHEEREBN DN :
Property, plant and equipment W - WE L& 348
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BERAFEFAESNERHEE 67,172
Loans and accounts receivables B e R R 4,224
Deposits paid, prepayments and other receivables BiTke - A RIE R E b fE W GRIE 530
Cash and cash equivalents ReRkBREEMBEER 896
Receipts in advance, accruals and other payables and TEWRRIE - FEETE A R E b BT 5RIE
contract liabilities MeEHasE (56,818)
Current tax liabilities BVEATRIE B & (11,099)
Bank borrowings RITRERK (2,705)
Lease liabilities HEBE (382)
2,166
Loss on disposal HERER
Consideration received 2R E 12,838
Net assets disposal of HEEEFE (2,166)
Non-controlling interest e (14,666)
Cumulative exchange gain ZETEE H W as (227)
(4,221)
Net cash flow effect on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARNERERTE
Cash consideration received BWIRESRE 12,828
Cash and cash equivalents disposal of BELHERS KBRS EBEER (896)
11,932

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E-_=F+_-_A=+—HLFE

34. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 34, HEME AT (&)

(b)  On 2 July 2022, the Group completed to dispose of certain non- by RZE-_—_Ft+tA-H AEEZ
principal subsidiaries of the Group (the “Second Disposal”) to MABIE=-FEHEAEER T3
independent third parties at a cash consideration of less than FTERBRAA ReREERAR
RMB1,000. The net assets of the subsidiaries at the completion date 1000w ([FZXHEEFE]
of the Second Disposal were as follow: BRARREZRLEEHETNHEH

WEEFENT :
RMB’000
ARETR
Consideration RE
Cash received B e 1
1
Analysis of assets and liabilities as at the date of disposal: RHERMEEREBN DT :
Deposits paid, prepayments and other receivables BEE - BN IE KA E USRI 39
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFHEER 202
Receipts in advance, accruals and other payables JEUWGRIE ~ FERT B R E b EN FE (5,110)
Current tax liabilities BVERFRIE B & (37)
(4,906)
Loss on disposal HERER
Consideration received 2R E 1
Net liabilities disposal of TEBEFRE 4,906
Cumulative exchange gain ZETIE H I Es (5,243)
(336)
Net cash flow effect on disposal of subsidiaries HEMBARNERERTE
Cash consideration received BEHEeHKE 1
Cash and cash equivalents disposal of BEHERSEBRSEEER (202)
(201)

EBSBEBERERAT —B-=E5%H
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e B E|RME (&)

FORTHE YEARENDED 31 DECEMBER2023 HZ—_E—_=F+_A=+—HLFE

35.

36.

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 9 January 2024, all conditions under the subscription agreement have
been fulfilled and completion of the subscription took place on 9 January
2024 in accordance with the terms and conditions of the subscription
agreement. 14,134,143 subscription shares, representing approximately
16.67% of the issued share capital of the Company immediately after the
completion of the subscription, have been issued to 4 subscribers at the
subscription price of HK$0.315 per subscription share. The gross proceeds
of the subscription will be approximately HK$4.45 million and the net
proceeds (after deduction of other fees, costs, charges and expenses of
the subscription) will be approximately HK$4.4 million.

APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2024.

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited

35.

36.

BERREE

R-Z_MFE—AhB REHZEETE
Bl EEER  RERBHRNER K
B RBEFHEER_Z_WEFE—ANA
SERK © 14,134,143 IR R IERR 0 (15 EBERE
EETMEBEARRFSEITRAL1667%)
BRERRERMDISBEITHNRBER
TT42RBEA - REETEMSHIALES
B A4 BEBEABTEMBRIEFE (K
MBERESENEMER KA WEBK
X)) AE44EEBTT -

HE M R

HEVBRREEFEN _T_MNF=A
“tN\ARERKETE -



FINANCIAL SUMMARY
MBME

Below is a summary of the Group's results for the last five financial years and the
assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2023, 2022, 2021, 2020 and
2019, as extracted from the published audited financial statements for the years
ended 31 December 2023, 2022, 2021, 2020 and 2019. The amounts set out in
this financial summary are prepared as if the current structure of the Group had
been in existence throughout the years presented.

TRAXASEBEZLEMBEEXZERAEE
RNZE_=F -2 -_—_F - ZFT=-_—%F .=
EEFERZE-NFTA=+—HRHEE
LEBERE  DESEERREE_S=F
—EI o ZE—F ZFE_ZTFR=F
—NF+Z A=+ R EFELEXTHEHRE -
IS E SR DU AREIR G EBEN
RITERFEANETFEMBR -

RESULTS ES
Year ended 31 December
BE+-A=t—-RLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=f ZE--fF ZE-—F ZEZTF ZT-NF
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT
Revenue ¥ 87,307 76,671 20,059 19721 104,390
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to: ~ EIGAFEEF,/ (1) :
Owners of the Company AREFEA 16,926 2,605 (265,276) (468,725) (673,713)
Non-controlling interests FEIE R R = (64) 215 (328) (1,622) (25,549)

16,862

2,820 (265,604) (470,347) 699,262

EBSBEBERERAT —B-=E5%H
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)
MBEBE (&)

TOTAL ASSETS, TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEE HEBRIFERES
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

At 31 December
R+=ZA=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—TE-=f —F-—F —F-—F —FT-FF —F-HhE
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREBTRT AREBTRT ARBTRT ARETRT ARETR

Total assets BEE 102,367 55,705 88,205 394,665 854,816
Total liabilities BEE (47,292) (40,212) (92,589) (92,962) (97,587)
Non-controlling interests IR = (190) (254) 14,627 (12,224) (11,778)

54,885 15,239 10,243 289,479 745,451

ANNUAL REPORT 2023

Flying Financial Service Holdings Limited
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